ROBERTO CARLOS BURINI

Understanding contemporary diseases under

EVOLUTIONARY MEDICINE view



ROBERTO CARLOS BURINI

Understanding contemporary diseases under

EVOLUTIONARY MEDICINE view





Editora chefe Prof^a Dr^a Antonella Carvalho de Oliveira Editora executiva Natalia Oliveira Assistente editorial Flávia Roberta Barão Bibliotecária Janaina Ramos Projeto gráfico Camila Alves de Cremo Ellen Andressa Kubistv Luiza Alves Batista Nataly Evilin Gayde **F**ditora Imagens da capa iStock Edicão de arte Luiza Alves Batista Editora

2023 by Atena Editora Copyright © Atena Editora Copyright do texto © 2023 Os autores Copyright da edição © 2023 Atena Editora Direitos para esta edição cedidos à Atena Editora pelos autores. Open access publication by Atena Editora



Todo o conteúdo deste livro está licenciado sob uma Licença de Atribuição *Creative Commons*. Atribuição-Não-Comercial-NãoDerivativos 4.0 Internacional (CC BY-NC-ND 4.0).

O conteúdo do texto e seus dados em sua forma, correção e confiabilidade são de responsabilidade exclusiva do autor, inclusive não representam necessariamente a posição oficial da Atena Editora. Permitido o *download* da obra e o compartilhamento desde que sejam atribuídos créditos ao autor, mas sem a possibilidade de alterá-la de nenhuma forma ou utilizá-la para fins comerciais.

Todos os manuscritos foram previamente submetidos à avaliação cega pelos pares, membros do Conselho Editorial desta Editora, tendo sido aprovados para a publicação com base em critérios de neutralidade e imparcialidade acadêmica.

A Atena Editora é comprometida em garantir a integridade editorial em todas as etapas do processo de publicação, evitando plágio, dados ou resultados fraudulentos e impedindo que interesses financeiros comprometam os padrões éticos da publicação. Situações suspeitas de má conduta científica serão investigadas sob o mais alto padrão de rigor acadêmico e ético.

Conselho Editorial Ciências Biológicas e da Saúde

Prof^a Dr^a Aline Silva da Fonte Santa Rosa de Oliveira – Hospital Federal de Bonsucesso

Prof^a Dr^a Ana Beatriz Duarte Vieira – Universidade de Brasília

Prof^a Dr^a Ana Paula Peron – Universidade Tecnológica Federal do Paraná

Prof. Dr. André Ribeiro da Silva - Universidade de Brasília

Prof^a Dr^a Anelise Levay Murari – Universidade Federal de Pelotas

Prof. Dr. Benedito Rodrigues da Silva Neto - Universidade Federal de Goiás

Prof^a Dr^a Camila Pereira – Universidade Estadual de Londrina

Prof. Dr. Cirênio de Almeida Barbosa - Universidade Federal de Ouro Preto

Prof^a Dr^a Daniela Reis Joaquim de Freitas - Universidade Federal do Piauí

Prof^a Dr^a Danyelle Andrade Mota – Universidade Tiradentes

Prof. Dr. Davi Oliveira Bizerril - Universidade de Fortaleza

Prof^a Dr^a Débora Luana Ribeiro Pessoa – Universidade Federal do Maranhão

Prof. Dr. Douglas Siqueira de Almeida Chaves - Universidade Federal Rural do Rio de Janeiro

Prof. Dr. Edson da Silva – Universidade Federal dos Vales do Jequitinhonha e Mucuri Prof^a Dr^a Elizabeth Cordeiro Fernandes – Faculdade Integrada Medicina

Prof^a Dr^a Eleuza Rodrigues Machado – Faculdade Anhanguera de Brasília

Prof^a Dr^a Elane Schwinden Prudêncio – Universidade Federal de Santa Catarina

Prof^a Dr^a Eysler Gonçalves Maia Brasil – Universidade da Integração Internacional da Lusofonia Afro-Brasileira

Prof. Dr. Ferlando Lima Santos – Universidade Federal do Recôncavo da Bahia Prof^a Dr^a Fernanda Miguel de Andrade – Universidade Federal de Pernambuco Prof^a Dr^a Fernanda Miguel de Andrade – Universidade Federal de Pernambuco Prof. Dr. Fernando Mendes – Instituto Politécnico de Coimbra – Escola Superior de Saúde de Coimbra

Prof^a Dr^a Gabriela Vieira do Amaral – Universidade de Vassouras

Prof. Dr. Gianfábio Pimentel Franco - Universidade Federal de Santa Maria

Prof. Dr. Guillermo Alberto López - Instituto Federal da Bahia

Prof. Dr. Helio Franklin Rodrigues de Almeida – Universidade Federal de Rondônia Prof^a Dr^a lara Lúcia Tescarollo – Universidade São Francisco

Prof. Dr. Igor Luiz Vieira de Lima Santos - Universidade Federal de Campina Grande

Prof. Dr. Jefferson Thiago Souza - Universidade Estadual do Ceará

Prof. Dr. Jesus Rodrigues Lemos - Universidade Federal do Delta do Parnaíba-UFDPar

Prof. Dr. Jônatas de França Barros - Universidade Federal do Rio Grande do Norte

Prof. Dr. José Aderval Aragão - Universidade Federal de Sergipe

Prof. Dr. José Max Barbosa de Oliveira Junior – Universidade Federal do Oeste do Pará Prof^a Dr^a Juliana Santana de Curcio – Universidade Federal de Goiás

Prof^a Dr^a Kelly Lopes de Araujo Appel – Universidade para o Desenvolvimento do Estado e da Região do Pantanal

Prof^a Dr^a Larissa Maranhão Dias - Instituto Federal do Amapá

Prof^a Dr^a Lívia do Carmo Silva - Universidade Federal de Goiás

Prof^a Dr^a Luciana Martins Zuliani – Pontifícia Universidade Católica de Goiás

Prof. Dr. Luís Paulo Souza e Souza – Universidade Federal do Amazonas

Prof^a Dr^a Magnólia de Araújo Campos – Universidade Federal de Campina Grande

Prof. Dr. Marcus Fernando da Silva Praxedes – Universidade Federal do Recôncavo da Bahia

Prof^a Dr^a Maria Tatiane Gonçalves Sá – Universidade do Estado do Pará

Prof. Dr. Maurilio Antonio Varavallo - Universidade Federal do Tocantins

Prof. Dr. Max da Silva Ferreira - Universidade do Grande Rio

Prof^a Dr^a Mylena Andréa Oliveira Torres – Universidade Ceuma

Prof^a Dr^a Natiéli Piovesan – Instituto Federacl do Rio Grande do Norte

Prof. Dr. Paulo Inada - Universidade Estadual de Maringá

Prof. Dr. Rafael Henrique Silva – Hospital Universitário da Universidade Federal da Grande Dourados

Prof^a Dr^a Regiane Luz Carvalho – Centro Universitário das Faculdades Associadas de Ensino

Prof^a Dr^a Renata Mendes de Freitas – Universidade Federal de Juiz de Fora

Prof^a Dr^a Sheyla Mara Silva de Oliveira - Universidade do Estado do Pará

Prof^a Dr^a Suely Lopes de Azevedo – Universidade Federal Fluminense

Prof^a Dr^a Taísa Ceratti Treptow - Universidade Federal de Santa Maria

Prof^a Dr^a Vanessa da Fontoura Custódio Monteiro – Universidade do Vale do Sapucaí

Prof^a Dr^a Vanessa Lima Gonçalves – Universidade Estadual de Ponta Grossa

Prof^a Dr^a Vanessa Bordin Viera – Universidade Federal de Campina Grande

Prof^a Dr^a Welma Emidio da Silva – Universidade Federal Rural de Pernambuco

Diagramação:Camila Alves de CremoCorreção:Maiara FerreiraIndexação:Amanda Kelly da Costa VeigaRevisão:O autorAutor:Roberto Carlos Burini

Dados Internacionais de Catalogação na Publicação (CIP)		
B958	Burini, Roberto Carlos Understanding contemporary diseases under evolutionary medicine view / Roberto Carlos Burini. – Ponta Grossa - PR: Atena, 2023.	
	Formato: PDF Requisitos de sistema: Adobe Acrobat Reader Modo de acesso: World Wide Web Inclui bibliografia ISBN 978-65-258-1092-8 DOI: https://doi.org/10.22533/at.ed.928232106	
	1. Medicine. 2. Biology. 3. Evolution. I. Burini, Roberto Carlos. II. Title.	
	CDD 610	
Elaborado por Bibliotecária Janaina Ramos – CRB-8/9166		

Atena Editora Ponta Grossa – Paraná – Brasil Telefone: +55 (42) 3323-5493 www.atenaeditora.com.br contato@atenaeditora.com.br

DECLARAÇÃO DO AUTOR

O autor desta obra: 1. Atesta não possuir qualquer interesse comercial que constitua um conflito de interesses em relação ao conteúdo publicado; 2. Declara que participou ativamente da construção dos respectivos manuscritos, preferencialmente na: a) Concepção do estudo, e/ou aquisição de dados, e/ou análise e interpretação de dados; b) Elaboração do artigo ou revisão com vistas a tornar o material intelectualmente relevante; c) Aprovação final do manuscrito para submissão.; 3. Certifica que o texto publicado está completamente isento de dados e/ou resultados fraudulentos; 4. Confirma a citação e a referência correta de todos os dados e de interpretações de dados de outras pesquisas; 5. Reconhece ter informado todas as fontes de financiamento recebidas para a consecução da pesquisa; 6. Autoriza a edição da obra, que incluem os registros de ficha catalográfica, ISBN, DOI e demais indexadores, projeto visual e criação de capa, diagramação de miolo, assim como lançamento e divulgação da mesma conforme critérios da Atena Editora.

DECLARAÇÃO DA EDITORA

A Atena Editora declara, para os devidos fins de direito, que: 1. A presente publicação constitui apenas transferência temporária dos direitos autorais, direito sobre a publicação, inclusive não constitui responsabilidade solidária na criação dos manuscritos publicados, nos termos previstos na Lei sobre direitos autorais (Lei 9610/98), no art. 184 do Código Penal e no art. 927 do Código Civil; 2. Autoriza e incentiva os autores a assinarem contratos com repositórios institucionais, com fins exclusivos de divulgação da obra, desde que com o devido reconhecimento de autoria e edição e sem qualquer finalidade comercial; 3. Todos os e-book são *open access, desta forma* não os comercializa em seu site, sites parceiros, plataformas de *ecommerce*, ou qualquer outro meio virtual ou físico, portanto, está isenta de repasses de direitos autorais aos autores; 4. Todos os membros do conselho editorial são doutores e vinculados a instituições de ensino superior públicas, conforme recomendação da CAPES para obtenção do Qualis livro; 5. Não cede, comercializa ou autoriza a utilização dos nomes e e-mails dos autores, bem como nenhum outro dado dos mesmos, para qualquer finalidade que não o escopo da divulgação desta obra.

SUMÁRIO

ABSTRACT	1
SYNOPSIS	2
Background	2
Outlines	3
Future Directions	6
EVOLUTIONARY MEDICINE	8
Historic of Evolutionary Medicine	8
EVOLUTIONARY THEORY	9
Historic of Evolutionary Theory	9
Evolutionary Theory in Public Health	9
Evolutionary theory insists we understand	9
Interface of Evolutionary Biology and Medicine	10
The Symbiotic Microbiota	10
THE LIFE HISTORY THEORY	
The role of hormones	13
Trade-off Longevity-Reproduction	14
Trade-off Reproduction and Survival	15
Trade-off Immune Function Versus Growth	15
Plasticity	
Expensive-tissue Hypothesis and the Brain-gut Trade-off	
The Role of Nutrition in Brain Expansion	17
ENVIRONMENTAL CONSTRAINS FOR EVOLUTIONARY TRAITS	
Famine	
Infection	
THE THRIFTINESS CONCEPT	
Energy Thriftiness	19
Thriftiness Of Fatness	
The Thriftiness of Cholesterol	

SUMÁRIO

The thriftiness of Insulin Resistance	
The Thriftiness of Body Fluids Preservation	24
The Thriftiness of Inflammation	24
The Thriftiness of Physical Activity	25
ENVIRONMENTAL CONSTRAINTS AND LIFESTYLE TRANSITION	28
Major Dietary and Physical Activity Transitions	
THE FRUGALITY OF THE THRIFTY GENOTYPE IN AN UNF ENVIRONMENTAL CONDITIONS	
The cholesterol-related diseases	33
The frugality of ABCA1 mutant	
ABCA1 Mutants on Modern Environment	35
The Frugality of the Allele ApoE-4	
Human Migrations and ApoE Alleles	
ApoE-4 Allele and Vitamin D status	
ApoE-4 Allele and Reproductive Function	
ApoE Alleles and Human Lifespan and Longevity	
ApoE-4 Allele and Elder-Human Diseases	
Effects of Physical Activity in Relaxing ApoE-4 Actions	
ApoE-4 on Modern Environment	
The Mismatch of Ancestral Genome with the Contemporary Behavior	40
Obesity	41
Type 2 Diabetes	
Essencial Blood Hypertension	43
Resistance Of Pathogens To Antibiotics	43
EPIGENETICS OF NCDS	45
FUTURE DIRECTIONS	46
Physical Activity-ApoE-4 Interaction	
REFERENCES	
SOBRE O AUTOR	

SUMÁRIO

ABSTRACT

From the evolutionary theory, the body is not a product of design but a bundle of compromises shaped by natural selection to maximize reproduction or genetic fitness, not health. Hence, life history theory predicts the coordinated evolution of the traits contributing directly to fitness: age and size at maturation, number and size of offspring, number of reproductive events, and ageing and lifespan. Major constraints were famine and infection with the trade-offs of encephalization-out size: growth-immunological defense and longevity-reproduction. The major functions involved in lifespan are maintenance, growth, reproduction, and defense, in which energy can be invested. For those, insulin resistance, sodium preservation and inflammation are seen as thriftiness in situations such as famine, water privation and infection. For then, emerged the thrifty genotype. An evolutionary view suggests that many genetic variants interact with environments and other genes during development to influence disease phenotypes. Therefore, it is possible to analyze a great number of diseases in terms of adaptive vulnerabilities connected to our phylogenetic inheritance, such as human bodily inadequacies in relation to the modern environment. This means that current diseases such as obesity. T2D, essential hypertension, dyslipidemia and metabolic syndrome may result from the mismatch of our ancestral thrifty genotype with the contemporary way of life through epigenetic modification of the gene expression. Additionally, the worldwide burden of NCDs demands the implementation of effective population-based strategies. This is the basis of the Behavioral Medicine whose major principles are dietary adequacy and physical activity. As a model, we propose an ongoing epidemiological experience ("Moving for Health Program"). described as a costless lifestyle -modification procedure, alternatively to the current homeostatic model adopted by the Public Service. It could be a natural remedy for recovering part of the imbalance caused by modern life-styles, costless and without the side effects of many pharmacological treatments.

KEYWORDS: Evolutionary Biology and Medicine; Epigenetics of Non-communicable Chronic Diseases; Behavioral Medicine.

SYNOPSIS

1 | BACKGROUND

Chronic diseases are the foremost cause of death globally and this prevalence continues to rise for both men and women, every ethnicity, and all age groups (1). Non-Communicable Diseases (NCDs) are defined as a disease that is slow in its progress and long in its continuance (2). Major examples of NCDs are cardiovascular diseases (including hypertension atherosclerosis, coronary heart disease heart failure, and stroke), obesity, Type 2 diabetes (T2D), some cancers, allergy, osteoporosis, sarcopenia (and frailty), neurodegeneration, cognitive failure and depression. Besides its organic or mental failure, NCDs affect also patient's autonomy for daily living activities which can be evaluated by the 'Disability-Adjusted Life Years (DALYS) (2).

The Brazilian Universal Health System (SUS) is committed to offer high-quality health care to the entire population, including the distribution free of charge of a list of essential medicines aimed at treating the most prevalent diseases in the population (3). The expansion of pharmaceutical care and the free distribution of most NCD medications by SUS, play an important role in the Brazilian Government's effort to tackle NCDs (4). However, NCD medications are expensive. In the first decade of this century (2002-2006), the prescription drug costs was the increasingly large component of overall health care costs of the Brazilian Ministry of Health, varying from 5.4% to 11% of total expenditure. Overall, the increased expenditure with drugs varied from 16.36% in 2002 to 49.7% in 2003 and 45.85% in 2005, summing up 123.9% (2002-2006) (5).

While Brazil's national drug policy calls for distribution of essential drugs through the universal public health system, the stocking of these drugs in outpatient facilities is still deficient. Consequently, the drug access through the SUS is still insufficient lacking of affordability and availability creating socioeconomic inequities by the access to public drugs. The state of out-of pocket added to the much higher prices of medical drugs in Brazil than internationally, is leading the general population to the catastrophic expenditure in health. Hence, despite its accomplishments, the Brazilian health system faces serious financial and organizational challenges. Thus, besides drug therapy is used worldwide as measure in halting and reversing the NCDs epidemic, in Brazil, the burden of NCDs has demonstrated the onerous expansion of pharmaceutical care and the free distribution of most NCD's medications, as an ineffective action in controlling these diseases (2).

Underlying why drug therapy has been largely unsuccessful in halting and reversing the NCDs epidemic, would be the ineffectiveness of the treatment approach by homeostasis model (6). Homeostasis describes mechanisms that hold constant a controlled variable by sensing its deviation from a "setpoint" and feeding back to correct the error. Based on this model physicians reason that when a parameter deviates from its setpoint value, some internal mechanism must be broken. Consequently, they design therapies to restore the "inappropriate" value to "normal" (6).

Homeostasis treats low level targets and following the homeostasis model, hypertension is treated with drugs that target the three primary effectors of elevated pressure (diuretics, vasoconstrictor antagonists and heart rate antagonists). For obesity, it is listed six neuromodulators that increase feeding and ten that decrease feeding, and then concludes, "a multi-drug regimen that targets multiple sites within the weight-regulatory system may be necessary to achieve and sustain weight loss in many individuals" (7). The same strategy is proposed for type 2 diabetes and metabolic syndrome (8) and, for drug addictions (9). For sure there are "side-effects" involved in each of the steps and the pharmaceutical industry continues to target myriad molecules that regulate these mechanisms, and fundamental research widely promises to identify new targets (10). For all of these, the high discontinuance rates are considered to reflect, among other factors, "a combination of adverse drug effects, cost of drugs, and poor efficacy" (11). Overall, in medicine, major diseases rise in prevalence, such as essential hypertension and type 2 diabetes, whose causes the homeostasis model cannot explain (10).

2 | OUTLINES

By following homeostasis approach, actual medicine ignores evolution (see main text, item 1), and instead focus upon proximate mechanical causes. As a result of assuming this model, medicine is mechanistic, materialistic, reductionist, linear-causal, and deterministic in its concepts. It seeks explanations for diseases, or their symptoms, signs, and cause in single, materialistic changes within the body wrought directly by infectious, toxic, or traumatic agents (6).

In its ignorance to the evolutionary principles, current medicine remains largely preevolutionary, excelling in description and mechanistic explanations, but only beginning to explain the variability in disease susceptibility in individuals and populations (12). By going beyond standard care, an understanding of each individual's ongoing life history could guide personalized decisions concerning the prevention, diagnosis, and treatment of disease.

Evolutionary Medicine (see main text, item 1) aims to explain diseases based both on recent physiological causes, those most commonly addressed by medicine, and on more distant evolutionary causes, those responsible for the emergence and survival of useful and functional biological structures throughout the history of the planet. Far from suggesting quick new cures, the general messages of Evolutionary Medicine help to explain why disease is so prevalent and difficult to prevent. The evolutionary thinking on medical issues can sometimes illuminate features quite unexpected by non-evolutionary approaches (13).

Physicians and public health professionals deal with phenotypes, but according

to evolutionary theory (see main text, item 2), bodies are shaped in small increments to maximize reproduction or genetic fitness, not health. Therefore, bodies are vulnerable to disease, and remarkably resilient. From the evolutionary theory, the body is not a product of design but of natural selection, though Evolutionary Medicine rests on the assumption that functional biological characteristics are the result of evolutionary adaptive processes. Genetic traits may be positively or negatively selected relative to their concordance or discordance with environmental selective pressures. "Bodies are vulnerable to disease, and remarkably resilient, precisely because they are not machines built from a plan" (14). They are, instead, bundles of compromises shaped by natural selection in small increments to maximize reproduction, not health" (14). Consequently, natural selection has not shaped organisms for maximum health, but rather to maximize their reproductive success (or genetic fitness).

For contributing to our main fitness of reproductive success, the life history theory (see Main Text, item 3) was developed to predict the coordinated evolution of the traits contributing directly to fitness: age and size at maturation, number and size of offspring, number of reproductive events, and ageing and lifespan. For achieving those, organisms are full of unavoidable trade-offs and constraints. Trade-offs are features inherited or acquired during development. A trade-off occurs whenever a change in one trait that increases fitness is connected to a change in another trait that decreases fitness. Each individual represents a bundle of many trade-offs. Therefore, the life history theory views the evolution of the fitness traits (larger brains, slower growth, longer-lived offspring) as the product of trade-offs (brain-gut, growth-immunity, fertility-lifespan) and extrinsic factors in the environment that affect mortality risk and resource availability. It then considers how extrinsic factors shape the combination of intrinsic traits to maximize fitness (15). The trait of undernutrition (energy deficiency) reduces not only survival but, anticipates fertility and abbreviates mother's lifespan.

Life history theory models phenotypic evolution (see item 3.5). For though, plastic responses to environmental stimuli include physiological adaptations implemented by homoeostatic feedback loops that can react in seconds or minutes, acclimations (e.g. adjustments to altitude) that can react in days to weeks through changes in the setpoints of feedback loops, and finally, developmental plasticity, in which reactions usually last a lifetime (16,17). Organisms are bundles of compromises shaped by natural selection and, humans and other primates have evolved particular morphological and biological traits that distinguish them from most other mammals.

Life is the interplay between structure and energy and, the major functions involved in lifespan are maintenance, growth, reproduction, and defense, in which energy can be invested. For then, emerged the thrifty genotype (see item 5) that implies some degree of prosperity deriving from earlier frugality and a careful management of resources (18). Then, hormones (see item 3.1) and other circulating factors provide cues that allow cellular behavior to be matched to organismal goals. For energy saving and energy-yielding substrate distribution, fat storage and insulin resistance can be seen as thriftiness in situation such as famine (19,20). Similarly, sodium preservation during water privation (21) and inflammation in situations of infection (22).

Since about 100,000 years ago humans have started to spread across the whole world to become the only Homo species currently inhabiting this planet. The "Out-of-Africa" Diaspora (see item 6) necessitated adaptation to new conditions of existence. Changes in physical characteristics gave rise to the concept of "race," which is however better described by "geographical location" of origination as shown by studies of human genetic variation (23). The retreat of sea waters in straits of Gibraltar and Bering allowed ancient human to reach Eurasia and American continents. The coalescent-based analysis revealed strong evidence for distinct demographic expansions in Europe, southeastern Asia, and sub-Saharan Africa within the past 10,000y (24). Besides latitude and longitude distances and climate changes, there were major recognized dietary changes (25). Genetic traits may be positively or negatively selected relative to their concordance or discordance with environmental selective pressures. When environmental conditions permanently change, evolutionary discordance arises between a species' genome and its environment, and stabilizing selection is replaced by directional selection, moving the average population genome to a new set point. Individuals bearing the previous average status guo genome experience evolutionary discordance that manifests itself phenotypically as disease, increased morbidity and mortality, and reduced reproductive success.

Nevertheless, there are also the genetic traits positively selected relative to their concordance (by some of their alleles) with environmental selective pressures. When the environment remains relatively constant, stabilizing selection tends to maintain genetic traits that represent the optimal average for a population. This is the frugal gene theory (see item 7), a genetic characteristics that prove to be advantageous in some way would be maintained in a population through a process of positive selection (26). Samples of positive concordance frugality are depicted by alleles ApoE-4 and mutant ABCA1 of plasma cholesterol and thriftiness of energy economy, inflammation and sodium-dependent water retention. However, an evolutionary view suggests that many genetic variants interact with environments and other genes during development to influence disease phenotypes (see item 7.4). Evolutionary Medicine points out that, because biological evolution is much slower than cultural change, much disease arises from the mismatch of our bodies to modern environments (13). Therefore, it is possible to analyze a great number of diseases in terms of adaptive vulnerabilities connected to our phylogenetic inheritance, such as human bodily inadequacies in relation to the modern environment. In fact, the mismatch of our ancestral thrifty genotype with the contemporary way of life would result in diseases such as obesity,

T2D, essential hypertension, dyslipidemia and metabolic syndrome. The evolution towards to high-guality diet for body growth and encephalization, began with the "meat-adaptive" genes allowing our hominid ancestors to more effectively exploit diets with higher levels of animal fat. Additionally, during feast-famine over tens of thousands of years selected some genotypes and genes to oscillate, some of which might also play a role in efficiency during fuel usage. Evolution selected these genes for glucose storage and conservation. However, the idea that common heritable diseases are caused by a few defective genes is usually incorrect. An evolutionary view suggests that many genetic variants interact with environments and other genes during development to influence disease phenotypes. Then, the modern-day environmental constraints and human behavior generated the frugal gene theory. Epigenetic modification of gene expression is one mechanism by which genetic susceptibility and environmental insults can lead to mostly of the contemporary NCDs. In the nutritional field, nutrients and bioactive food components can modify epigenetic phenomena and alter the expression of genes at the transcriptional level by histone modifications and DNA methylation. Thus, epigenetic modification of gene expression is one mechanism by which genetic susceptibility and environmental insults can lead to mostly of the contemporary NCDs (see item 8).

The interface of evolutionary biology and medicine (see items 2.3.1 and 7.5) understood that "humans coevolved with a normal community of symbiotic and parasitic microorganisms" and, we have learned that pathogens evolve much faster than we do, so infection is unavoidable because pathogens rapidly evolve resistance to antibiotics and, pathogens evolve strategies to circumvent host defenses, and the virulence levels are shaped by natural selection to maximize transmission. Similarly to the evolved resistance of pathogens to antibiotics, cancers rapidly evolve resistance to chemotherapy. Thus, far from suggesting quick new cures, the general messages of Evolutionary Medicine help to explain why disease is so prevalent and difficult to prevent (27).

Today it is clear that lifestyle factors and human health are linked through epigenetics mechanisms (18) therefore, the modern human bodily inadequacies in relation to the modern environment can be associated with either dietary inadequacy and/or physical inactivity (28). Nutritional behavior may modulate overweight by eating high energy-dense food, highly refined carbohydrate (CHO) and fat diet, low- micronutrient diet (29). In the same way, physical inactivity may modulate human physiology by reducing cardiorespiratory fitness (mitochondria biogenesis and beta oxidation) and therefore increasing body fatness through lowering the energy expenditure (30).

31 FUTURE DIRECTIONS

As homeostasis, allostasis is also an endogenous system responsible for maintaining

the internal stability of the organism. But, differently from homeostasis, constancy is not the goal of allostasis, instead, the core idea of allostasis is a coordinated variation to optimize performance at the least cost. The allostasis model defines health as optimal predictive fluctuation. A system becomes unhealthy when, high demand predominates for long times, The allostasis model of physiological regulation, attributes NCDs diseases to sustained neural signals that arise from unsatisfactory social interactions (6). Differently from treating low level targets by drugs (homeostatic model) and generating iatrogenesis, the allostasis model has a more rational goal of intervention with lifestyle modification of environmental factors. Under this model the hallmark of health is the therapeutics of contemporary chronic diseases through principles of Behavioral Medicine, by changing lifestyle, which seems more clinically effective than drugs (2).

As a model of Behavioral Medicine, we have published a costless lifestyle modification program ('Moving for Health") that alternatively to homeostatic model, has proactively promoted eutrophy and also, reduced blood hypertension, T2D and Metabolic Syndrome (31). This community-based ongoing epidemiological "Moving for Health Program", has been conducted since 1991 and, is in very much tune with the ACSM's "Exercise is Medicine" initiative, and WHO proposal. The effectiveness of this Program in reducing overweight (32), T2D (33), hypertension (34) and Metabolic Syndrome (35), have been shown with its estimated economic impact on NCD care (31).

EVOLUTIONARY MEDICINE

Evolutionary Medicine can be defined as the application of the theory of evolution through natural selection to the understanding of human health problems. Therefore, evolutionary medicine or Darwinian medicine is the application of modern evolutionary theory to understanding health and disease. To date, evolutionary medicine has primarily aimed to go beyond understanding how people become ill by considering why the body is susceptible to disease. In particular, these approaches could improve understanding of the effect of ecological change on health, whether this relates to non-human or societal factors (36).

Evolutionary Medicine rests on the assumption that functional biological characteristics are the result of evolutionary adaptive processes. Therefore, it is possible to analyze a great number of diseases in terms of adaptive vulnerabilities connected to our phylogenetic inheritance, such as human bodily inadequacies in relation to the modern environment. This innovative approach provides the medical field with a theoretical framework which contributes to the explanation of a great variety of serious disorders (37). The opportunities generated by Evolutionary Medicine are large in the clinic, the research laboratory, and the classroom (14,15,38).

1 | HISTORIC OF EVOLUTIONARY MEDICINE

Evolutionary medicine is not a new specialty or method of practice or critique of medicine. Instead, it consists of the intersections where evolutionary insights bring something new and useful to the medical profession, and where medical research offers new insights, questions, and research opportunities for evolutionary biology (27). Evolution and medicine started an immature approximation in the late 19th century that broke up amid violent recriminations in the early 20th century (27). Thereafter, the relationship remained distant until they were reintroduced on a more mature basis (39). Evolutionary Medicine, which dates back to the early 1960s, aims to explain diseases based both on recent physiological causes (i.e. those most commonly addressed by medicine) and on more distant evolutionary causes (i.e. those responsible for the emergence and survival of useful and functional biological structures throughout the history of the planet) (37).

In the 19th century, pre-Darwinian biology was mainly descriptive. Variability was well documented, but poorly understood and, as underlined by the article "Evolutionary physiology" (40), "Physiologists are interested in how organisms work and, a subset of physiologists also wants to know why organisms are designed to work in particular ways. Unless one assumes special creation of all organisms, an understanding of such why questions requires an evolutionary perspective" (40).

EVOLUTIONARY THEORY

Evolution is perhaps the most basic scientific theory. Some would say it is the most powerful because "Nothing in medicine makes sense, except in the light of evolution" (41). Evolution acting through natural selection represents an ongoing interaction between a species' genome and its environment over the course of multiple generations. Genetic traits may be positively or negatively selected relative to their concordance or discordance with environmental selective pressures.

Evolutionary theory insists we understand the body not as a product of design but of natural selection. Therefore, "bodies are vulnerable to disease, and remarkably resilient, precisely because they are not machines built from a plan" (14).

Yet powerful, evolutionary theory application to health and medicine is vastly underutilized. Evolution is also a "basic science" (27) and it is no exaggeration to suggest that its application in medicine could revolutionize the discipline.

1 | HISTORIC OF EVOLUTIONARY THEORY

The evolutionary theory was first applied to health by George Williams (1957), in the context of senescence. Five decades later, Randolph Nesse summarizes the evolutionary theory to medicine as "all biological traits need two kinds of explanation, both proximate and evolutionary". The proximate explanation for a disease describes what is wrong in the body mechanism of individuals affected by it. An evolutionary explanation is completed different. Instead of explaining why people are different, it explains why we are all the same in ways that leave us vulnerable to disease" (14). Therefore, evolutionary theory generates testable hypotheses regarding how organisms should respond to environmental stimuli, and these hypotheses are widely supported in diverse species, including humans (42–44).

21 EVOLUTIONARY THEORY IN PUBLIC HEALTH

2.1 Evolutionary theory insists we understand

As it has previously argued, our body is not as a product of design but of natural selection therefore bodies are vulnerable to disease, and remarkably resilient. They are, instead, bundles of compromises shaped by natural selection in small increments to maximize reproduction, not health" (14). Consequently, natural selection has not shaped organisms for maximum health, but rather to maximize their reproductive success (or genetic fitness). This approach helps understand why people present at clinics, but it might not help prevent illness from developing (36). Consequently, public health interventions might not always achieve exactly what they intended.

Conventionally, public health models of behavior emphasize purpose and individual autonomy. The aim of public health is to prevent disease, promote health, and prolong life in human populations through the organized efforts of society (45). It is intuitive that improving living conditions should benefit peoples' health. We can still use evolutionary principles to understand associations between behavior and health outcomes. In behavioral terms, low investment in self-preservation could be mediated by time preferences, in which short-term gains are favored over long-term rewards. Public health programs targeting infant infections or adult reproduction are thus expected to shape long-term health outcomes and disease susceptibility through influencing these trade-offs (36).

Because physicians and public health professionals deal with phenotypes, they can gain substantially from a theory that predicts phenotypic states and how they are expected to change over an individual's life course. Going beyond standard care, an understanding of each individual's ongoing life history could guide personalized decisions concerning the prevention, diagnosis, and treatment of disease (36).

3 I INTERFACE OF EVOLUTIONARY BIOLOGY AND MEDICINE

3.1 The Symbiotic Microbiota

The first insight given by the interface of evolutionary biology and medicine is that "humans coevolved with a normal community of symbiotic and parasitic microorganisms" (13).

Biologists have traditionally defined vertebrates as a group with neural crest tissue and ten organ systems. The microbiota (the naturally occurring set of microorganisms that inhabit body organs, especially the gut) is a newly recognized 11th vertebrate organ system that influences all of the other systems and communicates with them through the metabolome. Today, all vertebrates harbour large communities of microorganisms (microbiota), particularly in the gut. A noteworthy percentage of the metabolic products in human blood is microbial in origin. At least 20% of the small molecules in human blood are products of the microbiota (46).

Vertebrates arose early in the evolution of animals, about 500 million years ago, only about 20–30 million years after the Cambrian explosion (47). The trajectory of evolution that lead to human beings has a series of 19 steps in which, with each successive step, new genes arise. This provides evidence that about 65% of our genes originated with Bacteria, Archaea, and unicellular eukaryotes, including those genes that enabled animal-microbe interactions (48).

A bacterium was once a component of the ancestor of all eukaryotic cells, and much of the human genome originated in microorganisms (46). A good example is the mitochondria,

ancient bacterial symbionts with their own mitochondrial DNA (mtDNA), RNA, and protein synthesizing systems. Each human cell contains hundreds of mitochondria and thousands of mtDNAs. The mtDNA is maternally inherited and shows striking regional genetic variation. This regional variation was a major factor in permitting humans to adapt to the different global environments they encountered and mastered. Moreover, the mitochondria burn the calories in our diet with the oxygen that we breathe to make chemical energy to do work and heat to maintain our body temperature. As a by-product of energy production, the mitochondria also generate most of the endogenous reactive oxygen species (ROS) of the cell, and these damage the mitochondria, mtDNAs, and cell (49).

THE LIFE HISTORY THEORY

Natural selection shapes organisms to maximize their reproductive success (or genetic fitness). Then, life history theory was developed to predict the coordinated evolution of the traits contributing directly to fitness: age and size at maturation, number and size of offspring, number of reproductive events, and ageing and lifespan. Traits are interactions between intrinsic constraints and trade-offs. Humans and other primates have evolved particular morphological and biological traits (e.g., larger brains, slower growth, longer-lived offspring) that distinguish them from most other mammals (13). The evolution of these traits is viewed as product of interactions between intrinsic constraints and trade-offs. On the other hand, the life history theory views the evolution of the fitness traits as the product of trade-offs and extrinsic factors in the environment that affect mortality risk and resource availability. It then considers how extrinsic factors shape the combination of intrinsic traits to maximize fitness (15).

Progress at the interface of evolutionary biology and medicine has given rise to two general messages (13). The first general message is that, the view of organisms as machines whose design has been optimized by engineers is as misleading as it is deeply entrenched. Organisms are, instead, bundles of compromises shaped by natural selection to maximize reproduction, not health (15). They are thus full of unavoidable trade-offs and constraints. Trade-offs are key concepts in life history theory. Trade-offs are features inherited or acquired during development and extrinsic factors in the environment that affect mortality risk and resource availability. There are full of unavoidable tradeoffs and constraints. Major trade-offs involved were encephalization-gut size; growth-immunological defense and longevity-reproduction. Major constraints were famine and infection.

A trade-off occurs whenever a change in one trait that increases fitness is connected to a change in another trait that decreases fitness. Many trade-offs pertain to individual organisms. Overall, life is the interplay between structure and energy (49).

The availability of energy shapes the passage of each individual through life history decision nodes (e.g. how fast to grow, when to mature, and how long to live) (46).

The major functions involved in lifespan are maintenance, growth, reproduction, and defense, in which energy can be invested. Changes in allocations among these functions are shaped both by resource availability and extrinsic mortality risk, of which key components in humans include infectious disease, poverty or deprivation, and violence or conflict.

The specific decisions that constitute each individual's life-history trajectory are enacted at levels that include physiology and behavior. Furthermore, human societies generate stresses for which their biology is unprepared or mismatched (50), such as pollutants, processed foods, and sedentary environments. Many of the relevant mechanisms are already well understood to shape disease risk. These are the same mechanisms that permit adaptation through plasticity to ecological stimuli and stresses. Both hormonal and behavioral plasticity represent mechanisms of risk management that are inherently sensitive to physical and societal stimuli (51).

Life-history theory attempts to understand ecological factors that shape strategic allocations between size versus number of offspring, reproductive effort versus body maintenance, early versus delayed reproduction, and making the best of current opportunities versus preparing for an uncertain future (52).

Strategic choices at the organismal level must emerge from information- processing within cells. Each cell must not only manage its own metabolism, second by second and minute by minute, but also coordinate its activities over much longer periods with many other cells of the same and different types. A major strategic decision involves the relative proliferation of cells contributing to muscle mass (conferring superior earning capacity but increased maintenance costs) and fat mass (a load to be carried but insurance against hard times. Additionally, choices of fuel - whether to burn or stored fat and whether to use amino acids for gluconeogenesis or to build proteins - are implicated in major life-history trade-offs, including those between investment in present reproduction and precautionary savings.

1 | THE ROLE OF HORMONES

Hormones and other circulating factors provide cues that allow cellular behavior to be matched to organismal goals. Hormones allow organisms to respond to both endogenous and exogenous environmental factors by modifying cell functions variably across tissues and organs. Hormones are now recognized to generate multiple physiological effects, a scenario known as pleiotropy (53). In each case, hormones such as insulin, leptin and cortisol implement the allocation of energy between life history functions.

Growth hormone, for example, modulates fuel choice between fats and protein (via gluconeogenesis). Increased reliance on lipids to conserve protein would be favored both during rapid linear growth and during malnutrition but the adaptive tissue-specific responses in these two situations should differ markedly as elevated growth hormone is integrated with other cues (54).

Insulin plays a key role in allocating energy across competing physiological functions. Insulin modulates the regulation of peripheral metabolism, including appetite, reproductive function, thermoregulation, and adiposity, via receptors in the brain (55). Within the brain, insulin also regulates cognitive functions such as learning and memory (56). Although muscle insulin resistance increases the risk of diabetes, it also allows the diversion of glucose from muscle to other tissues (57).

Leptin, which is secreted by adipose tissue, signals the magnitude of energy stores to the brain but also has broader functions, contributing to the regulation of reproduction,

cognitive function, and immune function (58,59). For example, leptin influences the functions of T cells, monocytes, macrophages, and natural killer cells, as well as the release and expression of cytokines and other inflammatory markers, and these molecules likewise contribute to the regulation of energy balance (59). Although early linear growth benefits long-term health and human capital (60), the association between low leptin and mortality in malnourished children indicates the short-term survival value of body fat (61).

Another influential hormone is cortisol, produced by the adrenal glands in response to diverse types of stress including illness, trauma, fear, pain, and psychosocial stress. It too affects diverse metabolic activities, for example suppressing immune function while increasing blood pressure and blood glucose (62).

Mammalian reproduction inherently brings the life-history strategies of two generations together, through placental nutrition and lactation. This interaction could be characterized as a tug-of-war over maternal metabolic resources (63), because the energy allocation decisions that are optimal for maternal fitness might not maximize offspring fitness. In such parent–offspring conflict (64), hormones now function as signals between individuals, and each party can not only read the signals of the other, but can also potentially manipulate them with their own hormonal secretions. Placental lactogen promotes maternal insulin resistance, allowing the fetus to gain from prolonged increases in maternal blood sugar levels after meals (54). This thrifty phenotype represents a short-term adaptive response to poor energy availability (65). Although such plasticity might be adaptive, especially in the context of reproduction (66) it can also impose metabolic costs, accelerating the rate of ageing.

21 TRADE-OFF LONGEVITY-REPRODUCTION

Bodies exist to achieve maximal reproductive and genetic fitness, not to be maximally healthy or live long (14). This natural selection imperative means that caloric expenditure and time must be conserved, which can conflict with health goals. In fact, reproductive success can diminish health outcomes. In high income countries low socioeconomic position correlates with earlier reproduction, and poorer health status could be an important explanatory variable. There are studies showing that parental survivorship declined in proportion to the number of children produced, more strongly in mothers than fathers (67). However, the magnitude of this effect varies by living standards (68), and reproduction might protect against some cancers (66).

A link between deprivation and early age at first birth also remains across populations worldwide (69). Data from England (2009 to 2011) showed that, living in areas with the highest deprivation was associated with a life expectancy 7 years shorter for women and 9 years shorter for men, compared with those in the least-deprived areas (70). Hence,

early reproduction in women of low socioeconomic position might reflect both their lower expectancy of a healthy life and the absence of benefits of waiting to reproduce, since they typically have fewer chances to capitalize on educational and career opportunities. In behavioral terms, low investment in self-preservation could be mediated by time preferences, in which short-term gains are favored over long-term rewards.

3 | TRADE-OFF REPRODUCTION AND SURVIVAL

The reduced stress improved women's fertility, and higher birth rate, which led malnutrition among their offspring. This was proven by an initiative of providing local wells, in rural Ethiopia. By working to reduce the energy burden on women carrying large loads of water (for 19km), it was expected to improve women's nutritional status and hence their children's. Instead, In turn, it increased energy investment in reproduction without nutritional improvements. This indicates decreased investment in homoeostasis, and this might contribute to elevated NCD risk in populations of low socioeconomic position (71).

The trade-off between reproduction and survival (maintenance or defense) shapes the rate of ageing and NCD risk(51). Such trade-offs also apply across generations. Throughout (72) sub-Saharan African countries, the odds of child survival fell in relation to the number of offspring produced by the mother (73). Similarly, there are studies showing that parental survivorship declined in proportion to the number of children produced, more strongly in mothers than fathers (67). The magnitude of this effect varies by living standards (68), and reproduction might protect against some cancers (66).

4 | TRADE-OFF IMMUNE FUNCTION VERSUS GROWTH

The major functions involved in lifespan are maintenance, growth, reproduction, and defense, in which energy can be invested. Changes in allocations among these functions are shaped both by resource availability and extrinsic mortality risk, of which key components in humans include infectious disease, poverty or deprivation, and violence or conflict. For example, the trade-off between reproduction and survival (maintenance or defense) shapes the rate of ageing and NCD risk (51). Once the energy is available, human metabolism is a tug-of-war between managing beneficial microbes, excluding detrimental ones, and channeling as much energy as is available into other essential functions (e.g. growth, maintenance, reproduction). This tug-of-war shapes the passage of each individual through life history decision nodes (e.g. how fast to grow, when to mature, and how long to live) (46).

The immune function versus growth is a trade-off especially relevant to public health. Developmental exposure to infectious diseases shapes the entire life history strategy, and might propagate effects to subsequent generations (74). Developmental exposure to infectious diseases shapes the entire life history strategy, and might propagate effects to subsequent generations (74). Immune function is metabolically costly (75); for example, in children, each degree of temperature rise from fever increases metabolic rate by 11.3% (76), hence the costs of fighting infections impair child growth (77). Then, nutritional interventions to resolve stunting might be ineffective unless also reducing the burden of infections and parasites (78). This relationship can account for epidemiological associations linking secular declines in infant mortality rate (a proxy for the energy costs of immune function in the survivors) with secular increases in adult height and longevity (79).

5 | PLASTICITY

Life history theory models phenotypic evolution in general. Conventionally, evolutionary perspectives of human phenotypic variability emphasize our genetic variability and diverse components of plasticity. Plastic responses to environmental stimuli include physiological adaptations implemented by homoeostatic feedback loops that can react in seconds or minutes, acclimations (eg, adjustments to altitude) that can react in days to weeks through changes in the setpoints of feedback loops, and finally, developmental plasticity, in which reactions usually last a lifetime (16,36). We can use evolutionary principles to understand associations between behavior and health outcomes. Therefore, the medical importance of plasticity is most apparent in the developmental origins of adult health and disease(80,81).

Organisms are bundles of compromises shaped by natural selection and, humans and other primates have evolved particular morphological and biological traits. The evolution of these traits is viewed as product of interactions between intrinsic constraints and tradeoffs features inherited or acquired during development, and the environment (extrinsic factors) that affect mortality risk and resource availability (18).

The evolution of H. erectus in Africa is widely viewed as a "major adaptive shift" in human evolution (82). In fact, humans appear to be distinctive in their developmental changes in body composition and, since Hominins that lived in East Africa, we experienced a (a) marked increases in both brain and body size, (b) the evolution of human-like body proportions, and (c) major reductions of posterior tooth size and craniofacial robusticity (83,84).

6 | EXPENSIVE-TISSUE HYPOTHESIS AND THE BRAIN-GUT TRADE-OFF

The most important of the developmental changes in body composition is our high levels of encephalization (large brain:body mass). Over the course of the last three million years, hominin brain sizes tripled. It is often taken for granted that the benefit of a larger brain is an increase in "intelligence" that makes us stand out among other mammals, including our nearest relatives, the primates. It appears that major expansion of brain size in the human

lineage is the product of synergistically interacting dietary/nutritional and social forces (18).

The lack of correlation between Rest Metabolic Rate and relative brain size in encephalized mammals raises the question of how the increased energetic demands of larger brains are compensated. The "expensive tissue hypothesis" posits that the metabolic accommodation of large brains is achieved by a reduction in the mass/sizes of other tissues with high-energy demands. The brain-gut trade-off hypothesis suggests that the massive expansion of the brain in humans came at the expense of the gastrointestinal tract (85). Besides the reduced gut sizes, and high activity budgets, the evolution of our large brain sizes was consequent to major energetic and dietary shifts (18).

6.1 The Role of Nutrition in Brain Expansion

Dietary/nutritional forces synergistically interacting with social forces appears to be the major factors for expansion of brain size in the human lineage (18). The first task for greater brain would be the energy yelding and the second task would be the raw material for the extra-tissue structure. The central nervous system accounts for only 2% of the whole body mass but 60% of it dry mass is fat, 25% long-chain fatty acids and 24% cholesterol (86). In the case of humans, brain expansion was associated with changes in diet, foraging, and energy metabolism. The first marked expansion occurred with the appearance of the genus Homo. Improved diet quality, allomaternal subsidies, cognitive buffering (by earlier weaning and longer juvenile periods), reduced costs for locomotion and by cooperative behavior, and reduced allocation to production, all operated simultaneously, thus enabling the extraordinary brain enlargement in our lineage. Although dietary change was not being the sole force responsible for the evolution of large brain size, the exploitation of high-quality foods likely fueled the energetic costs of larger brains and necessitated more complex behaviors that would have selected for greater brain size (18).

ENVIRONMENTAL CONSTRAINS FOR EVOLUTIONARY TRAITS

The main dangers threatening our ancestral survival were famine, infection, and physical trauma. Therefore, survival of multicellular organisms depends on the organism's ability to these stress adaptations, a high energy demand processes. To cope with the injury responses, a coordination of neuroendocrine, energy storage, water economy and immune systems are adapted (22).

1 | FAMINE

In ancient time, food supply was never consistent then, it is contended that the human ancestors had cycles of feast and famine, punctuated with obligate periods of famine, and certain genes evolved to regulate efficient intake and utilization of fuel stores (19). During famines, individuals with the thrifty genotype would have a survival advantage because they relied on larger, previously stored energy to maintain homeostasis (87,88). The physiological adaptation that is induced by the fasting state includes increased lipolysis, lipid oxidation, ketone body synthesis, endogenous glucose production and uptake and decreased glucose oxidation. These processes are crucial for survival and serve to protect the organism from excessive loss of protein mass (89).

21 INFECTION

To cope with the injury responses, a coordination of neuroendocrine, energy storage, water economy and immune systems are adapted. The formation of a systemic and/or local tissue-specific insulin resistance due to inflammatory cell activation may actually be a protective mechanisms that co-evolved with the repartition of energy sources within the body during times of stress and infection. The time frame of an organism's response to the acute inflammatory episode may reflect an adaptive natural selection mechanism for the coordination of the immune and energy system to fight against infection (22).

THE THRIFTINESS CONCEPT

In general language thrifty genes implies some degree of prosperity deriving from earlier frugality and careful management of resources (87). Humans represent a thrifty species relative to some other mammals. This indicates that metabolic adaptations had a crucial role in the emergence of present day Homo Sapien lineage, in particular in buffering reproduction from ecological stochasticity (87). The imprinted thrifty-genes influence not only the balance of tissues within bodies but also basic metabolic parameters. Its use in reference to human metabolism spread after an influential article by James Neel proposed that certain genes relevant to metabolism could have been favored by natural selection in certain environmental conditions (26) such as famine, infection, wound healing and body dehydration.

1 | ENERGY THRIFTINESS

Our brain volume tripled over the course of two million year period and, our high levels of encephalization (large brain:body mass) is often taken for granted that the benefit of a larger brain is an increase in "intelligence" that make us stand out amongst other mammals, including our nearest relatives, the primates (90). Brain makes only 2% of the body, but expends 20% of the total rest-energy expenditure! For doing it so, human infants are born altricially (relatively underdeveloped for their age), and unlike other primates, continue rapid brain growth into early postnatal life (91). To provide energy reserves for these high metabolic demand, dedicated fat-storing cells were necessary, because the tissues of the lean body mass lack the storage capacity to meet the fuel demands imposed by famine. Hence the evolution of adipocytes served the purpose of extending survival during the recurrent cycles of famine (92). To support the large, rapidly growing brains, human infants are born with high body fat levels, and continue to gain fat during the first year of postnatal life (18). Normally, a variable amounts of extra fat are safely stored subcutaneously, either locally hip and thigh (in adults) or spread over total body subcutaneous (in children), where it confers a metabolically protective reserve in both genders and supports pregnancy and lactation in females (93).

The ability to effectively detect, metabolize, and store fats likely provided tremendous selective advantages to our hominid ancestors, allowing them to expand into diverse ecosystems around the world (94). For so, it has been hypothesized that genes responsible for energy regulation and preservation have been positively selected. These thriftiness has been described not only in storing and sparing muscle glycogen by prioritizing fatty-acid oxidation as energy-yielding substrate (18) as well as by providing free-cholesterol and conjugated lipids, as building blocks for structuring the brain (86). The human encephalization has allowed also an extended lifespan and therefore, for the longevity, the regulation of

energy storage is critical for organism's fight against famine, infection and physical stress (18).

2 | THRIFTINESS OF FATNESS

The central nervous system accounts for only 2% of the whole body mass but expends 23% of our daily energy (18). To accommodate the extraordinary energy demands of the developing infant brain, human infants are born with an ample supply of body fat (95). Fatty acids provide doubled kcal/g than CHO or protein and are stored anhydrously either occupying intracellular or inter organs spaces, insulating parenchymal organs and working as subcutaneous cushion. We have higher levels of body fatness than other primate species and, at ~15%–16% body fat, human infants have the highest body fat levels of any mammalian species (96).

In hominoids, features such as nutrient requirements and digestive physiology appear to be genetically conservative" (Milton 2000). With the evolution of Homo erectus, our ancestors began a new lifestyle oriented around a combination of meat eating and gathering (82,97). Key genetic mutations during later hominid evolution were critical to promoting the enhanced lipid metabolism necessary for subsisting on diets with greater levels of animal material.

The evolutionary conservation of ancestrally selected physiological traits is likely, because "Humans are not self made creations dietary, but rather have an evolutionary history as anthropoid primates stretching back more than 25 million years, a history that shaped their nutrient requirements and digestive physiology well before they were humans or even proto-humans. Hence, compared to large-bodied apes, humans have an enhanced capacity to digest and metabolize higher fat diets. Our gastrointestinal tract, with its expanded small intestine and reduced colon, is quite different from those of chimpanzees and gorillas and is consistent with the consumption of a high-quality diet with large amounts of animal food. It has been shown that the evolution of key "meat-adaptive" genes in hominid evolution were critical to promoting enhanced lipid metabolism necessary for subsisting on diets with greater levels of animal materia (98).

Along with the critical selection for key "meat-adaptive" genes allowing our hominid ancestors to more effectively exploit diets with higher levels of animal fat (99), there are evidences highlighting the remarkable capacity of the human brain and sensory system for accurately assessing the energy content of potential food items. Thus, associated with the evolution of our high-quality diet, the need for an energy-rich diet also appears to have shaped our ability to detect and metabolize high-fat foods. Therefore, we show strong preferences for lipid-rich foods. It has been shown that these preferences are based on the smell, texture, and taste of fatty foods (100–102). In sum, the ability to effectively detect,

metabolize, and store fats likely provided tremendous selective advantages to our hominid ancestors, allowing them to expand into diverse ecosystems around the world (94).

Following high-fat intake, it is induced a diet-induced thermogenesis, including the increased expression of uncoupling proteins (UCPs) which acts as a defense mechanism against weight gain. The increased heat produced by UCPs not only helps increase energy expenditure but also promotes satiety, thereby establishing energy balance. Diet regimens with pure fat, the so-called ketogenic diets, have been introduced and demonstrated to cause rapid weight loss. One reason for this is the difficulty these patients demonstrate to overeat pure fat without any carbohydrates. Therefore, sucrose in a mixture with fat is reported to weaken the satiety signals for fat. Then, the long-term effects of high-fat diets are similar to the low-fat diets in regard to weight loss and metabolic parameters (103).

3 | THE THRIFTINESS OF CHOLESTEROL

Cholesterol and related sterols (ergosterol in yeast, phytosterols in plants) is considered a hallmark of eukaryotes, and may even have triggered the evolution of multicellular organisms. Cell needs cholesterol into the composition of its membrane as a precursor for steroid hormones, vitamin D, and bile acids. Therefore, yet often considered in a negative light, cholesterol is an essential molecule with unusually diverse functions. The exclusivity of cholesterol to the membranes of animal cells suggests that cholesterol and a diversity of lipid species have evolved to confer the necessary intrinsic properties of biological membranes, such as flexibility and selective permeability. Overall, cholesterol is an essential membrane reinforce (104).

During evolution, the plasma membrane came to play an additional, highly specialized role in the central nervous system (CNS) as the major architectural component of compact myelin. As a consequence, in the human the mean concentration of unesterified cholesterol in the CNS is higher than in any other tissue (~23 mg/g). The central nervous system accounts for only 2% of the whole body mass but contains almost a quarter of the unesterified cholesterol present in the whole individual (105). The evolutionary adaptation of the cholesterol-rich plasma membrane to form compact myelin made it possible to "wire" the complex brain with numerous relatively small-diameter, low-capacitance axons that manifested very high conduction velocities (105).

Although the evolution of myelin largely solved the problem of action potential conduction velocity, this insulatory layer on axons did add additional volume to the CNS, particularly in the large brains of primates, where there was massive expansion of the neocortex (18). Over a very large range of brain sizes, the volume of the neocortex increased from only 16% of the volume of the whole brain in small animals to 74% in Hominoidea. In contrast, the relative volume of the cerebellum remained constant at 13% of whole brain

volume, regardless of the absolute size of the brain (106,107). As the size of the neocortex progressively evolved, so also did the volume occupied by myelinated nerve fibers, white matter and the size pool in the CNS (86). Therefore, although solving the problem of nerve conduction velocity, the disproportionate increase in brain size during fetal and neonatal development created a challenge that ultimately dictated when brain growth and myelination could take place. That is because the cross-sectional area of the female pelvis limited the degree of development of the CNS before birth by limiting the size of the head that could pass through the birth canal (105).

Head size is related to the degree of myelinization in the brain where the mean concentration of cholesterol makes the difference. For the animals that are not noted for their intellectual capacity, the early myelination allows the newborn to be immediately mobile so that it can be led away from the birthing site before attracting the attention of local predators (e.g. guinea pig and sheep). Species, represented by the mouse and hamster have essentially no myelination in the brain and therefore are nearly helpless at birth. The human, also born essentially helpless, follows a similar pattern of myelination, although a number of years, rather than weeks, are required for the average concentration of cholesterol in the brain to increase. However, in the 3 weeks after birth, cholesterol rapidly accumulates in the CNS (108).

Adding to the roll of the well diffused role of cholesterol, there is also evidence that sterols like cholesterol may have in fact been a protective response to the increasing levels of molecular oxygen in earth's atmosphere (109). An intricate link between sterols and oxygen is the idea that sterols are oxygen sensors in mammalian cells (110). The surveillance role of sterols in sensing oxygen, becomes cholesterol an active defense against this potential hazard. Cholesterol has even been considered to act as an antioxidant (111). Synthesis of cholesterol is an extremely oxygen-intensive process and requires sufficient terrestrial oxygen to proceed. To make one molecule of cholesterol, 11 molecules of oxygen are needed (112). Because oxygen is a necessary component in cholesterol production, the idea that cholesterol in turn may limit oxygen uptake by eukaryotic cells has a certain elegant symmetry to it. Indeed, there are several studies suggesting that cholesterol limits oxygen diffusion across membranes (113–115).

The cholesterol's general barrier function in cell membrane is to exclude polar molecules and, although oxygen is not polar, its diffusion across mammalian cell membranes is considerably influenced by the cholesterol content of the plasma membrane (113).

4 | THE THRIFTINESS OF INSULIN RESISTANCE

In processes associated with insulin resistance such as famine, infection, trauma and physical stress, plasma levels of glucose are elevated to provide energy sources to

maintain the function of vital organs (heart, brain and immune cells). Therefore, negative regulation of insulin signaling could be viewed as a physiologic 'adaptive mechanism" that is activated in certain unfavorable conditions and pregnancy (116,117).

In the sense of human evolutionary history, insulin resistance may be an essential part of normal homeostasis to facilitate redirection of nutrients to pivotal organs as a physiological adaptive mechanism to promote our ancestor's survival (118,119). Humans are extremely sensitive to glucose deficits, due to the large energy requirement (glucose) of the brain (116) and the glucose-dependent blood-cells, gonads, retina, mucosal and fibroblasts.

Glucose uptake by muscle, adipose and liver cells, can be obtained through activation in these cells, of a cascade of molecular signals, promoting the gene expression of GLUT4 (120). On rest state conditions, the major tissues of muscle, adipose and liver are GLUT-4 dependent for blood-glucose clearance, which is an insulin-dependent process. Skeletal muscle takes 80% of insulin-dependent glucose uptake. Consequently, insulin resistance promotes reallocation of glucose from major tissues (skeletal muscle, adipose tissue and liver) to the brain, tissue repair and immune system (20). As a result of insulin resistance, plasma levels of glucose are elevated to provide energy sources, maintain the function of vital organs, and combat infection (65,89,121).

The main factors responsible for the loss of insulin sensitivity in skeletal muscle are starvation, hypocaloric nutrition and immobilization. In healthy subjects, insulin resistance and marked alterations in substrate utilization induced by a few days of starvation or hypocaloric nutrition are more pronounced with combined immobilization (122–124).

In the early development of both, the endocrine and exocrine pancreas, and in later differentiation and function of the β -cell, there is a critical role played by Pdx-1, a homeo domain-containing transcription factor. Progressive decrease in Pdx-1 expression manifests as defective glucose homeostasis and increased oxidative stress in aging IUGR (125). Perinatal nutrient restriction resulting in IUGR leads to silencing histone modifications in skeletal muscle which in turn directly decrease GLUT4 gene expression, effectively creating a metabolic knockdown of this important regulator of peripheral glucose transport and insulin resistance and contributing to the adult T2D phenotype (57).

Concerning the muscle tissue, the promoter region of GLUT is the myocyte enhancer factor 2 (MEF2), whereas MyoD is responsible for GLUT 4 expression during myoblast to myocyte differentiation. These two proteins synergistically enhance skeletal muscle GLUT4 transcriptions and gene expression (126). It is accepted that an ancestral polymorphism of the muscle glucose transporter (GLUT4) spread in the past to save this sugar from muscle in favor of the brain in periods of famine. In fact, IUGR is associated with an increase in MEF2D (form that acts as an inhibitor) and a decrease in both MEF2A (that acts as an activator) and MyoD (a co-activator) binding to the GLUT 4 promoter in skeletal muscle (57).

5 | THE THRIFTINESS OF BODY FLUIDS PRESERVATION

With the hot and humid climate, like in eastern Africa, effective heat dissipation is essential in hot environments and is achieved most efficiently through evaporative heat loss (127). However, sweating due to the hot climate and excessive labor activities can lead to a large loss in the amount of salt and water, and eventually lead to hypovolemia, a threat to human survival. In addition, human and nonhuman primates living in ancient times had very low salt intake available. Low salt intake and large salt losses due to sweating had created robust salt appetite and renal sodium conservation, which were essential to survival (21). Then as results of natural selection, the survival pressures drove our evolution to shape a genotype, which favored/promoted energy-saving and sodium/water preservation. Since regulation of energy storage and the preservation of body fluids are critical for organism's fight against famine, infection and physical stress, it has been hypothesized that genes responsible for energy regulation and sodium preservation have been positively selected (128). It is well known that sodium is the main determinant of body fluid distribution, once sodium accumulation causes water retention. Hence, sodium transport through various nephron segments, is guite important in regulating sodium reabsorption and blood pressure (129).

Like energy storage, insulin-mediated sodium preservation may be an adaptive mechanism for human survival during ancient time. In fact, in addition to its metabolic effects, insulin induces vaso-relaxation by stimulating the production of nitric oxide (NO) in endothelium and regulates sodium homeostasis by enhancing sodium reabsorption in the kidney. ENaC and sodium proton exchanger type 3 (NHE3) are main mediators to regulate sodium reabsorption in renal tubules. It has been shown that insulin can regulate ENaC and NHE3, therefore increasing renal tubular sodium reabsorption (129,130). The increased blood pressure by insulin resistance may contribute to increased blood perfusion to the brain during starvation and infection, and to the fetus during pregnancy (117,121).

6 | THE THRIFTINESS OF INFLAMMATION

Infection, mechanical force, chemicals, and extreme heat or cold can damage tissues, causing the nonspecific process of inflammation. Progressive destruction of the tissue would compromise the survival of the organism, therefore inflammation is a protective attempt by the organism to remove the injurious stimuli and to initiate the (immunological or) healing process. For though, acute inflammation can be understood as a thriftiness of survival (22).

It is known that an activation of the innate and adaptive immune system demands, not only high energy consumption and, the acute inflammatory episode may cause water loss. To cope with the injury responses, a coordination of neuroendocrine, energy storage, water economy and immune systems are adapted. Thus in addition to its immunological thriftiness, acute inflammation has also metabolic thriftiness, by its negative regulation of insulin signaling through inflammatory cytokines released from activated immune cells (22). The formation of a systemic and/or local tissue-specific insulin resistance due to inflammatory cell activation may actually be a protective mechanisms that co-evolved with the repartition of energy sources within the body during times of stress and infection and, as results of natural selection, the survival pressures drove our evolution to shape a thrifty genotype, which favored/promoted energy-saving and sodium/water preservation (121).

7 | THE THRIFTINESS OF PHYSICAL ACTIVITY

Paralleling the tremendous brain growth we assumed an upright position (131). Aerobic physical activity became an increasingly important element of the human lifestyle beginning approximately 1.8 million years ago. This lifestyle contrasts with the more sedentary apelike lifestyles of the earlier hominin genus, Australopithecus, who are reconstructed to have ranged much shorter distances than H. erectus (97,132). In fact, hunter-gatherers cover greater distances in single-day foraging bouts than other living primates, and these treks require high levels of cardiovascular endurance (133,134). Foraging means relying on food provided by nature through the gathering of plants and small animals, birds, and insects; scavenging animals killed by other predators; and hunting. In addition to long foraging distances, endurance running (ER) is thought to be an important component of this early hunting and gathering lifestyle (133,135,136).

There is evidence that a change in body shape during the evolution of the genus Homo is consistent with skeletal adaptations for ER, and differs from the more ape-like body shape of earlier hominins (133,137). Traits that improve ER performance, but seem to have little effect on walking performance, include increased semicircular canal radii, increased joint surface areas in the lower, but not upper, limbs, and the possible convergent evolution of many skeletal and neurobiological traits that improve endurance performance in mammals and humans (133,135,136,138–140). Thus, beginning with the evolution of H. erectus, our ancestors became endurance athletes, regularly engaging in high levels of aerobic physical activity (132).

Independently of fed state, prolonged endurance exercise elicits a variety of metabolic and morphological gene expression including those related to mitochondrial biogenesis, fast slow fiber-type transformation and substrate metabolism. In contrast, heavy resistance exercise stimulates synthesis of contractile proteins responsible for muscle hypertrophy and maximal contractile force output (141).

As practical results, the famine-induced insulin resistance may be reversed by exercise in order to conserve muscle glycogen stores by oxidizing greater quantities of fatty acids. This 'thrifty' regulation allows skeletal muscle to consume enough energy and permitted our ancestors to continue intense physical activities to hunt for food, despite prolonged fasted states (142).

The fact that both feast–famine and exercise–rest cycles produce oscillations in glycogen concentration implies that some of the glycogen cycling regulatory mechanisms for the above two hunter-gatherer situations could be common (143). In fact, the human body only stores about 1500 kcal of glycogen but it can store 120,000 kcal of triglyceride, posing the question as to whether the enzymes involved in such a small storage of glycogen could play a role as "thrifty" genes since 1500 kcal can hardly supply even one day of total caloric output (30). Oscillations of muscle glycogen and triglyceride levels with physical activity–rest cycles during feast–famine over tens of thousands of years selected some genotypes and genes to oscillate, some of which might also play a role in efficiency during fuel usage (142). Studies in experimental models manipulating muscle glycogen content with exercise have revealed several possible candidates as "thrifty" genes. Among the genes that efficiently conserve the utilization of muscle glycogen were pyruvate dehydrogenase kinase-4, hexokinase, IL-6 and HSP72 (144–146). It is probable that evolution selected these genes for glucose storage and conservation in order to rapidly provide the energy necessary for immediate tasks related to muscle work and survival (30).

Skeletal muscle takes 80% of insulin-dependent glucose uptake. Hence muscle insulin resistance conserves glucose for utilization by the central nervous system decreasing the amount of muscle protein needed to be converted to glucose (neoglucogenesis). The metabolic process of insulin resistance may be reversed by exercise in order to conserve muscle glycogen stores by oxidizing greater quantities of fatty acids. This 'thrifty' regulation allows skeletal muscle to consume enough energy and permitted our ancestors to continue intense physical activities to hunt for food, despite prolonged fasted states (30). The increased glucose uptake by muscle during and immediately after exercise, can be obtained insulin-independently through activation in muscle cells of a cascade of molecular signals, promoting the gene expression of GLUT4 (120).

Cahill & Owen (1968) (147) theory postulates that the more insulin resistance an individual, the more efficient will be his ability to decrease proteolysis (and preserve lean body mass) when faced with caloric deprivation. The more efficient one in conserving muscle protein the better changes to withstand prolonged periods of deprivation, to be able to hunt successfully and to escape if preyed upon. Summing up the mentioned theories, relative insulin resistance evolved to aid metabolic partitioning between physical activity and other functions during constrained energy supply (148).

Physical exercise promotes also several beneficial cardiovascular effects mainly by reducing or preventing oxidative stress and inflammation (30). By decreasing intracellular FFA and metabolites the reactive oxygen species (ROS) generation is decreased. The

vasodilatation and anti-oxidant effects are mainly by increasing nitric oxide (NO) bioavailability (149,150). Aditionally, there are several features of acute exercise and chronic exercise training that suggest that exercise may reduce the availability of endogenous TLR4 ligands, decrease the expression of TLR4, and decrease the activation of TLR4 signaling (151,152). Moreover, during exercise, contracting skeletal muscles release anti-inflammatory myokines (IL-6, IL-10 and IL-1ra). IL-6 inhbits TNF-α production in adipose tissue and macrophages (153). The overall anti-inflammatory effects of physical activity and exercise training from a metabolic and systemic signaling perspective, includes skeletal muscle to utilization of fatty acids, TLR4 signaling, and myokine/adipokine effects (22).

ENVIRONMENTAL CONSTRAINTS AND LIFESTYLE TRANSITION

Before Homo sapiens evolved, our hominine ancestors foraged for millions of years. Humans and other primates have evolved particular morphological and biological traits (e.g., larger brain, slower growth, longer-lived offspring) that distinguish them from most other mammals. Regarding Darwin's theory of evolution, it can be assumed that the process of natural selection favored those individuals who had the capacities conducive for the gathering of the available food supply. The mobility, the freeing of the hands as he evolved to an erect stature and the stereoscopic vision most certainly contributed greatly to this task of survival (154).

Advances in genetics and archaeology over recent decades have transformed our understanding of the ancestry and migration history of the primitive humans. Coalescence is a process of actual DNA being replicated back towards past. According this theory, all our current-genome variations (polymorphisms) are derived(alleles frequency) from our ancestral. By summing up coalescence to statistic data one can set up a "haplotypes tree" where each haplotype is an unit that assembles a set of inherited genes and the "tree", points towards the evolutionary-pathway of the DNA segment. Today there are "haplotype-trees" available for nuclear DNA, showing the genome homology of humans. There is now general agreement among paleoanthropologists, comparative morphologists, and molecular systematists that humans are most closely related to chimpanzes (98.8%), followed by gorillas (98.6%), and then orangutans (97.6%) (155).

Complementary, the mitochondrial haplotypes (mother inheritance) obtained from inhabitants living in the 4 continents, allowed us to know that Homo sapiens began their geographic diaspora 200,000yrs ago, from the deserts of Tanzania (northeastern Africa), reaching the Brazilian region much later on (10,000-20,000yrs ago) (155). Then, since about 100,000 years ago humans have started to spread across the whole world to become the only Homo species currently inhabiting this planet. The dispersal of modern humans out of Africa is now widely accepted however, the route taken across Eurasia are still disputed. The coalescent-based analysis revealed strong evidence for distinct demographic expansions in Europe, southeastern Asia, and sub-Saharan Africa within the past 10,000y (24).

The "Out-of-Africa" diaspora necessitated adaptation to new conditions of existence. Changes in physical characteristics gave rise to the concept of "race," which is however better described by "geographical location" of origination as shown by studies of human genetic variation (23).

The evolution of many distinctive human characteristics, such as our large brain sizes, reduced gut sizes, and high activity budgets, suggest major energetic and dietary shifts. The experienced tremendous brain growth and assumed upright position, have coincided with a change from a vegetarian to a hunting-gathering omnivore–carnivore (18). Because of their high costs, large brains are rare and are achieved only when animals

are under strong selection. In the case of humans, there have been two environmental pressure associated with the two major periods of human brain expansion. The first occurred with bipedal running and, the second period is coincident with the domain of fire and the introduction of cooking (18).

In the 5-7 million-year period since the evolutionary emergence of hominins (bipedal primates within the taxonomic tribe hominine) > 20 species may have existed. During the Paleolithic era and the emergence of today's sole Homo species, our ancestors, including Homo sapiens(200.000 years ago), survived as hunter-gathers for approximately 84,000 generations, Thereafter, the agricultural domestication era lasted about 350 generations and, 7 generations further (200 years ago) the industrial era and agrobusiness have distanced even more the nutrition from its primate and Paleolithic ancestors (20). The different food systems and diets are part of the diverse ways of life affect people's levels of physical activity, their body composition and stature, their life expectancy and patterns of disease. In the nutritional field, nutrients and bioactive food components can modify epigenetic phenomena and alter the expression of genes at the transcriptional level. Humanity's gene pool was selected when man's remote ancestors lived as stone age hunter-gatherers. In junction with this discordance between our ancient genetically determined biology and the nutritional, cultural, and activity patterns in contemporary western populations, many of the so-called disease of civilization have emerged and among them the modern nutrition related diseases (156).

The environment in East Africa at the Plio-Pleistocene boundary was becoming much drier, resulting in declines in forested areas and an expansion of open woodlands and grasslands (157-159). Such changes in the African landscape likely made animal foods an increasingly attractive resource for our hominid ancestors (160). These changes in the relative abundance of different food resources offered an opportunity for hominids with sufficient capability to exploit the animal resources. Compared with hunting in the savanna, food from the land-water ecosystems is relatively easy to obtain and rich in iodine, vitamins A and D, and w3 fatty acids from both vegetables and fish. Each of these nutrients has important functions in brain development and growth. Exploitation of this ecosystem, and its abundant "brain food," might be at the basis of our remarkable brain growth during the past 6 million years of evolution since our common ancestry with the present chimpanzee (18,161,162). There is good evidence to show that the evolution to H. sapiens took place on an ω 3-rich diet from East-African ecosystems that were notably located in places where the land meets freshwater (99,163). It has become clear that the intake of the parent EFA and their chain elongation/desaturation metabolites, the so-called LCPUFA (≥20 straight-chain carbon atoms and ≥3 methylene-interrupted cis-double bonds) is important to our health across the entire life cycle (30).

During the Paleolithic era and the emergence of today's sole Homo species, our

29

ancestors, including Homo sapiens (200.000 years ago), survived as hunter-gathers for approximately 84,000 generations, eating wild animal-source foods (lean meats, internal organs, bone marrow, but no dairy) and uncultivated plant-source foods (mostly fruits, non grain, vegetables, nuts, but no legumes) (164). The gather-hunter exhibited a diet usually high in animal sources from insect to large animal, high in protein not fat because the animal were lean, moderate amounts of starchy foods, high in dietary fiber and low in sugar, mostly from fruits and honey. The diets were diverse and high in micronutrients. People in gather-hunter societies were necessarily physically active, often tall and usually lean (excepted chiefs and olds or incapacitated that were overweight or obeses) (20). Life expectancy in those people was usually low. Paleolithic people usually did not survive into what we call later middle age so our ancestors did not live long enough to develop cancer, heart disease and other chronic illness (165).

The Out-of-Africa Diaspora has largely taken place via the coastal lines (166) after the crossing of the Gilbraltar Strait to Eurasia and, through Siberia, the Bering Strait to America (167).

Beginning as early as 12 thousand years ago (kya), multiple hunter-gatherer populations began developing agriculture and animal domestication. Food production quickly spread to neighboring regions (168). What began as a rebel way of life in the Middle East was ultimately adopted around the globe and eventually drove the hunter-gather lifestyle into extinction (164). Cultivation of wheat first developed around 9000 years ago in the fertile crescent of the Middle East including Mesopotamia/Iraque. These systems also developed independently in Asia with rice as the staple food and in Americas with corn (maize) as the staple (20).

The key factor in the Peasant-agriculture systems is land settlement, itself determined by the cultivation and building of crops and also animals, birds and fish for consumption and use. Surplus food was stored for consumption in winter and during hard times. Food preparation included fermentation used for foods as well as for the production of alcoholic drinks. Peasant-agricultural societies diets also may be diverse and high in micronutrients (20).

Agriculture enables the development of towns and then cities. The people subsisted on the food they produced and the surplus fed the community living within the walls, refuge for the farmers during wars, this crowding caused a sharp rise in infectious diseases. However even then their average life expectance was probably little longer than the hunters-gatherers. The peasant-agriculturalists were physically active by building fields systems sowing, harvesting and stoning crops. Though they were usually short and lean largely because of the nature of their dietary staples. However the prosperous specially those whose land where farmed by others may quite often become overweight or obese. In general, it is accepted that agriculture diminished dietary diversity and, at the same time fuelled population growth

30

(169). The rise of agriculture during the Neolithic period has paradoxically been associated with worldwide population growth despite increases in disease and mortality! To reconcile this Neolithic demographic transition paradox, it was proposed that the spread of agriculture involved a life history quality–quantity trade-off whereby mothers traded offspring survival for increased fertility, achieving greater reproductive success despite deteriorating health. Thus, mothers who transition to agriculture have higher reproductive fitness (170).

Seven generations further (200 years ago), the industrial era and agrobusiness have distanced even more the nutrition from its primate and Paleolithic ancestors. Urban-industrial system began in Europe in the 18th century with distinct characteristics from the former two others. The original purpose was to ensure reliable and adequate supplies of food of an agreed minimum nutritional quality to entire populations. Technology has been the main driving force behind these systems. The technology included food-preservation, bottling, canning, refrigeration and packing, extensive use of sugar and salt, and eliminate perishable qualities in fresh foods. Steel roller mills (invented in 1870s) separate the components of wheat and enable production of uniform quality white bread which has became a staple. Sugar derived from cane was the most profitable edible cash crop. Food hydrogenation which converts oils to hard fats has made margarine a basic item of food and provides ingredients used in the manufacturing of many processed foods. Refrigeration and other technologies has made meat, milk and their products cheap and plentiful all year round. The development of railways and, an efficient urban-industrial food systems can ensure the constant supply of food to all sections of the population even to the lowest income and marginalized groups. In higher income countries and regions this together with basic public health initiatives has helped to greatly reduce rates of nutritional deficiencies (20).

Overall, urban-industrial food system generate relatively energy dense diets, these are fairly high in meat, and milk and their products, and in total fats, hardened fats, processed starches and sugars, salt, baked goods, soft drinks and often also alcoholic drinks. As a result people become generally taller and heavier. Moreover this food system improved people's strength and health in early life, doubling the average life expectancy since 1800 and increased global population 6.5 times since 1800 to 2006 (20). However, in the second half of the 20th century attention focused on the apparent ill-effects of these food systems on people mostly in later life. Thus in the last decades of the last century the demographic, nutritional and epidemiological transitions that had until then largely been apparent only in higher income countries became global (20).

Roller-milling has reduced the fiber content of cereal grain- based foods so that total fiber intake has decreased to levels much below those of agriculturalists, and huntergatherer primates. The low intake of fiber and its sources whole grain, fruits, and vegetables continued with the digital age (2 generations ago). The modern diet, which is inadequate in whole grain, when compared with the metabolic potential of our digestive system, is

31

probably one of the causes of the increase in the number of chronic diseases and "illnesses" of the current era (20).

It is known that whole grains are rich source of fiber, minerals (Mg, K, phosphorus, Se, Mn, Zn and Fe) vitamins (specially, B complex and E), phenolic compounds, phytoestrogens (lignans), and related antioxidants. By the fact that these diets are relative low in both dietary fibre and starchy staple, it is accepted that food processing leads to low chewing forces and weak jaw muscles that result in inadequate jaw growth and a high frequency of formerly rare mal occlusions and impacted teeth (171).

1 | MAJOR DIETARY AND PHYSICAL ACTIVITY TRANSITIONS

There are seven major recognized dietary changes (25). From paleolitical to western-modern nutrition, we have shifted our dietary macronutrient composition toward carbohydrates at the expense of protein, increased the intakes of ω 6 fatty acids (notably LA from refined seed oils), SAFA and industrially produced trans fatty acids, decreased our ω 3 fatty acid intake (both ALA and those from fish oil), shifted to a carbohydrate-rich diet that contains a high percentage refined carbohydrates with high glycemic indices (e.g., highly processed grains, sucrose, fructose), decreased the intake of certain micronutrients (e.g., folate, vitamin D, magnesium, zinc), shifted toward acid-producing foodstuffs (like meat, grains) at the expense of base-producing counterparts (fruits, vegetables), increased our sodium (salt) intake and reduced our potassium intake, and decreased the intake of fiber (25).

In the past 100 years, not only food intake, but also physical activity patterns have changed drastically in Western countries. Concomitant with this shift in energy metabolism, the incidence rates for obesity, type 2 diabetes, cardiovascular disease, hypertension and other life style- associated pathologies have reached epidemic (172,173). Thus, in contrast to the previous 250,000 years when Homo sapiens mainly struggled with a lack of food, we now pay the price for an abundance of energy-rich food and the decreased importance of physical activity in daily life (174). Obesity, sarcopenia and osteoporosis are major global health problems with an increasing prevalence and high impact on mortality and morbidity.

THE FRUGALITY OF THE THRIFTY GENOTYPE IN AN UNFAVORABLE ENVIRONMENTAL CONDITIONS

According to the frugal gene theory, proposed in 1962, genetic characteristics that prove to be advantageous in some way would be maintained in a population through a process of positive selection (26). Genetic traits may be positively or negatively selected relative to their concordance or discordance with environmental selective pressures. When the environment remains relatively constant, stabilizing selection tends to maintain genetic traits that represent the optimal average for a population .

When environmental conditions permanently change, evolutionary discordance arises between a species' genome and its environment, and stabilizing selection is replaced by directional selection, moving the average population genome to a new set point. Initially, when permanent environmental changes occur in a population, individuals bearing the previous average status quo genome experience evolutionary discordance.

In the affected genotype, this evolutionary discordance manifests itself phenotypically as disease, increased morbidity and mortality, and reduced reproductive success. In conjunction with this discordance between our ancient, genetically determined biology and the nutritional, cultural, and activity patterns in contemporary Western populations, many of the so-called diseases of civilization have emerged (25).

1 | THE CHOLESTEROL-RELATED DISEASES

Blood cholesterol elevation was one of the first risk factors identified for vascular disease (175)apolipoprotein (apo and is being considered as an Alzheimer risk factor. Alzheimer risk increases in association with high consumption of animal fat. In particular, cholesterol consistently increases the accumulation or production of the AB-peptide, which is strongly implicated in Alzheimer's disease (176–178).

It has been described that cholesterol content of cell membranes affects the extent of oxygenation. In this sense, the cholesterol content of red blood cell membranes affects the extent of oxygenation of hemoglobin. Consequently, patients with high blood cholesterol levels have less oxygenation. In the same sense, cell mitochondria has the lowest cholesterol content of any eukaryotic organelle (179), which may relate to its prokaryotic (i.e., cholesterolfree) origin. Then, cholesterol accumulation in mitochondria membranes will decrease the organelle oxygenation and cell aerobic capacity and, therefore, an increased damage caused by cardiomyocyte ischemia, as experienced during chest pain (104). As in the case of heart disease, cholesterol and oxygen may also have implications for cancer research, again involving the mitochondrion (180). Increased mitochondrial cholesterol levels, possibly by inhibiting oxygen entry into the mitochondria, reduces oxidative phosphorylation (181). Unlike normal cells, cancer cells shun mitochondrial oxidative phosphorylation in favor of glycolysis. This altered mode of energy generation apparently gives cancer cells a survival advantage. Viruses like yellow fever and dengue fever or the parasite that causes malaria seem to need cholesterol for invading the organism and reproducing.

Similar to high-plasma cholesterol, reduced plasma cholesterol also is associated with abnormalities. Disturbances in cholesterol synthesis, either caused by genetic lesions or pharmacologically, tend to be associated with increased cataractogenesis (104).That is because the fiber cells that comprise the lens are especially rich in cholesterol and, the fiber cell's high cholesterol content may also limit oxygen entry. These cells are packed into a honeycomb-like array, a regular arrangement that confers ideal optical properties to allow efficient transmission of light, and is partially maintained by the high cholesterol content of the plasma membrane (115). Lower cholesterol content in the fiber cells could damage intracellular lens proteins contributing to cataract formation. Ultraviolet radiation, oxygen, and perturbed cholesterol metabolism in the lens can converge to precipitate cataracts (104).

There is a compelling body of evidence that there is no net or even bidirectional, movement of cholesterol from plasma lipoproteins across the endothelial cells of the bloodbrain barrier to the cells of the CNS. Only 6-8% of brain cholesterol comes from the diet. Therefore, essentially all cholesterol required for myelin formation in these cells came from brain endogenous synthesis and not from exogenous, lipoprotein cholesterol. Furthermore, indirect evidence suggests that large amounts of cholesterol turnover among the glial cells and neurons during brain growth and neuron repair and remodeling. This internal recycling of sterol may involve ligands such as ApoE and ApoAI, and one or more membrane transport proteins such as members of the LDLR family (105). Therefore, changes in cholesterol balance across the whole body may, in some way(such as by using drugs), might cause alterations in sterol recycling and Apo E expression within the CNS, which, in turn, may affect neuron and myelin integrity (86).

21 THE FRUGALITY OF ABCA1 MUTANT

The ATP-binding cassette transporter A1(ABCA1) plays a key role in cholesterol efflux and transfer from peripheral cells to lipid-poor apolipoprotein A1 (ApoA1), the first step in HDL particle formation (182,183).

A gene variant (R230C, rs9282541) was associated with low high-density lipoprotein cholesterol (HDL-C) levels (184) because the genetic variation affects the gene ABCA1 (packaged in chromosome 9) and leads to alteration of a protein in the cell membrane that controls the level of cholesterol in the cells. The mutation increases the energy reserve of

cells, which is fundamental in periods of food scarcity, like those which the first inhabitants of America – and other parts of the globe – must have frequently faced before agriculture became stabilized and animals were domesticated (185).

As a result, the cells accumulate 30% more cholesterol and, the reduction in cholesterol flow out of the cells. Consequently. cells with the altered form of the gene liberate 30% less cholesterol into the bloodstream. It is known that viruses like yellow fever and dengue fever or the parasite that causes malaria seem to need cholesterol for invading the organism and reproducing. Hence, with less cholesterol at the disposal of the infectious agents, more people would survive and would transmit the altered gene to future generations. The peoples in whom the mutation in the ABCA1 gene mutation is most common live in regions with the greatest incidence of these infections. Thus, the mutation must have favored the survival of individuals because its effect was to protect them against infectious diseases. "In times like these, up to 80% of the people who survived were likely to be carriers of at least one copy of the altered form of the ABCA1 gene (185).

From Asia, Europe and Africa population data, it was found that the alteration in genetic ABCA1 does not exist on other continents than American peoples and affects, on average, 15% of native Americans. The distribution of this genetic variation is more homogenous in Mexico and Central America, low in the Andes and oscillates in the lowest lying lands in South America. It is estimated that the variant that favors the accumulation of cholesterol in the cells appeared 8,300 years ago, almost 10,000 years after the first human beings arrived in America. This date coincides with that of the domestication of corn and strengthens the idea that the cereal may have contributed to the positive selection of this mutation (183).

The wild ancestor of corn, a grass called teosinte, started being cultivated 8,700 years ago in in southern Mexico, where it is estimated had been the source of 70% of the calories consumed by the peoples of Mesoamerica and is still the basis of the region's diet, have been found there. Therefore, it is reasonable to think that the start of agriculture in America had an influence on the selection of the mutated form of ABCA1.

Concurrently, archaeological information suggests that periods of famine (and high mortality) were frequent in the first few thousand years before production became stable. Only those who managed to store energy and support their hunger for longer would be capable of getting through these periods (185).

2.1 ABCA1 Mutants on Modern Environment

Counteracting its fundamental role in periods of food scarcity it was seen that among the known alterations of ABCA1 are the one that contributes most to reducing HDL levels, the most common form of dyslipidemia in Mexico. In fact, the reduced levels of HDL cholesterol was found in 20% of those with ABCD1 mutation, more common among obese people, who have diabetes and abnormal levels of cholesterol (dyslipidemia). This follows the suggestion that genetic susceptibility of Hispanics to type 2 diabetes (T2D), obesity and dyslipidemia is related to their Native American heritage (184,186,187).

Thus, for almost 300 generations, cells have housed a genetic alteration that in the past allowed them to survive, but over the last 40 years has been contributing to ill health. That is because at times of plentiful calories, the mutation favors the development of the health problems that are growing fastest in the world: obesity, diabetes and the cardiovascular diseases. Whatever the explanation, it is certain that the factor that allowed people to get through times of hunger today adversely affects the health of Amerindians (185).

31 THE FRUGALITY OF THE ALLELE APOE-4

ApoE plays a critical role in regulating the uptake of cholesterol and lipids throughout the body (188).

The comprehensive analysis of haplotype diversity showed that ε 4 is the ancestral APOE allele in humans, and the divergence of the ε 4 and the ε 2 and ε 3 clades occurred between 200 000 and 300 000 years ago (189). Our chimpanzee-like ancestors had a monomorphic APOE allele that is thought to be functionally similar to humans' ε 3 allele (190). Therefore, the ε 4 allele was an evolutionary novelty during human evolution (190).

The evolution of the unique E3 allele in Homo at the apolipoprotein E (apoE) locus was important for allowing our ancestors to exploit diets with greater animal material while, ApoE2 is most common in the Mediterranean basin where agriculture is thought to have begun (98). Therefore, some have suggested that APOE ε 4 evolved in response to shifts in diet ('a thrifty gene'), allowing for fat accumulation when nutrition access fluctuated (191–193). Thus, ApoE4 (the ancestral lineage) represents a more lipid-thrifty variant that is more efficient in sequestering cholesterol and has been better maintained in populations with a tenuous dietary supply such as in neolithical (193). Consequently, the ε 4 allele likely evolved in response to selection pressures early in our evolutionary lineage. Therefore, among the candidates for thrifty genes is the apoE4, whose geographical distribution has been linked to a possible thrifty role in lipoprotein and cholesterol metabolism (194).

3.1 Human Migrations and ApoE Alleles

Today, the frequency of the ε 4 allele in human populations around the world, generally follows a U-shaped latitudinal gradient, with the highest frequencies (up to approximately 40–50% of the population) in equatorial and high latitudes, and lower frequencies in middle latitudes (192,195).

Beginning approximately 2 million years ago, our ancestors moved into more open

environments and likely lost body hair to improve thermoregulation through sweating (196). At this time, melanin-rich skin evolved to protect the subdermis from the damaging effects of ultraviolet (UV) radiation, especially on blood folate levels, which are essential to fetal development. However, melanization also inhibits vitamin D synthesis (197). Thus, the original evolution of the ε 4 allele from the isoform present in our last common ancestor with chimpanzees may have allowed for highly melanized skin to protect blood folate, and still permit the absorption of vitamin D (198).

On the other hand, human migrations north into Europe and Asia, likely between 200 000 and 500 000 years ago, led to reduced levels of UV radiation and lighter skin colors (197). For a given dose of UVB radiation, lighter skin color leads to relatively higher levels of vitamin D synthesis compared with darker skin colors (199). Thus, with the evolution of lower levels of melanin in the skin, it is possible that selection for vitamin D synthesis and uptake was relaxed, allowing for the evolution of APOE ε 2 and ε 3 isoforms (198).

3.2 ApoE-4 Allele and Vitamin D status

It is suggested that the ε 4 allele leads to greater intestinal absorption and renal reuptake of vitamin D. Therefore, human ε 4 carriers had significantly 13-25% higher levels of vitamin D compared with ε 2 and ε 3 carriers (200). Hence, selection likely acts strongly to regulate vitamin D status due to the foraging.

Thus, among the proposed several possible scenarios for the evolution of the ε 4 allele, there is a suggestion that the ε 4 allele evolved to protect against vitamin D deficiency (191,200,201). Based on the benefits of ε 4 to support higher vitamin D levels, it is suggested a possible evolutionary scenario that can account for both the evolution of ε 4 from our last common ancestor with chimpanzees, and the current latitudinal gradient of ε 4 prevalence (192).

3.3 ApoE-4 Allele and Reproductive Function

Deleterious effects of low levels of vitamin D, include impaired reproductive function, increased risk of infections, rickets, and cardiovascular disease (202).

The selection effect on Impaired Reproductive Function may be mediated through the fact that the apoE4 variant favors steroid genesis and hence fertility (203,204). In support of this argument it has been shown, in a random sample of post-menopausal women, that carriers of apoE4 had more children than women with apoE2 (203). The Frisch (1982) (205) hypothesis is that occurs a suppressed fertility during times of maternal energy depletion. In Bangladesh and in Gambia, the lowest birth rate falls exactly 9 months after the time of greatest maternal weight loss during each year's hungry season. Thus, it was shown the very strong seasonal variation in birth rates in two populations exposed to seasonal agricultural patterns.

3.4 ApoE Alleles and Human Lifespan and Longevity

Humans live longer than any other primate, and are unique in having a prolonged post-reproductive lifespan (191,206,207). Despite some uncertainty over the timing of old age, the early evolution of longevity (approximately 1.8 million years ago) with H. erectus is most consistent with hypotheses for the evolution of the post reproductive lifespan that link successful aging to the origins of hunting and gathering (206–208).

Growth and development data from H. erectus (timing of third molar eruption and growth of body and brain size) suggest a lifespan of 60 years (196,209,210), a major jump over earlier species (e.g., species of Australopithecus) with estimated lifespans of 30 or 40 years. Most hypotheses for the evolution of human longevity (e.g., the 'Grandmother hypothesis') are centered on the ability of post-reproductive individuals (grandparents) to aid their offspring and their offspring's children, thereby improving their own reproductive success (206,207,211,212). As counterpart, the increased lifespan, and high levels of function in the elderly, would have enabled older adults to assist younger kin, reinforcing the selective benefits of old age (207,208,211).

It is well established that human aging today is characterized by substantial heterogeneity, often expressed as a continuum that can extend from successful to pathological aging (213,214).

Among the many hypotheses of evolving human longevity (206,207,211), a series of classic articles (98,191,201,215) argued that the evolutionary origins of the long human lifespan are tied to the interaction between diet and genotype. For though, the later evolution of ε 3 and ε 2 alleles, may have paved the way for further increases in lifespan evident in Upper Paleolithic human populations and modern humans (98,191,215). In fact, it is argued that humans' exceptionally long lifespans are a product, in part, of the evolution of the ε 3 allele, especially because diets shifted to include more meat and increased dietary fat and cholesterol later during our evolutionary history (98).

3.5 ApoE-4 Allele and Elder-Human Diseases

Humans have exceptionally long lifespans compared with other mammals and, our longevity evolved when our ancestors had two copies of the apolipoprotein E (APOE) ϵ 4 allele, a genotype that leads to a high risk of Alzheimer's disease (AD), cardiovascular disease, and increased mortality (198). In fact, specifically, carriers of the ϵ 4 allele of the APOE gene (responsible for lipid transport) have higher levels of total cholesterol and accumulation of atherosclerotic plaques in arteries, leading to increased risks of cardiovascular disease and stroke, as well as dementia and AD (189). The APOE ϵ 2 and ϵ 3 alleles confer reduced risks of these diseases of aging relative to the ϵ 4 allele, and are relatively recent additions to the human genome, with the ϵ 3 and ϵ 2 allele clade having evolved by 200 000 years ago (189). Today, prevalence of these alleles varies around the

world, but in most populations, ε 3 is found in the highest frequency (mean = 78.3%; range: 8.5–98.0%), followed by ε 4 (mean = 14.5%; range: 0–49.0%), and ε 2 (mean = 6.4%; range: 0–37.5%) (192).

3.6 Effects of Physical Activity in Relaxing ApoE-4 Actions

The evolutionary history of the APOE gene presents a vexing paradox. As described, data suggest that lifespans began to increase before the evolution of ε 2 and ε 3. In this context, how did selection generate longer human lifespans when all individuals had two copies of the deleterious ε 4 allele? Analyses of paleolife-history suggest (by the fossil record) that the long post reproductive lifespan of humans, began to evolve in concert with the shift towards higher aerobic activity in H. erectus , when the only available APOE allele was ε 4. It is suggested that this shift to higher levels of physical activity during human evolutionary history relaxed APOE-related constraints on lifespan as far back as 1.8 million years ago, though relaxing disease-related constraints on the evolution of humans' uniquely long lifespans. This hypothesis for the evolution of the human lifespan shows how increases in aerobic activity during our transition from a low-activity, sedentary, apelike lifestyle, to a high-activity hunter-gather lifestyle served to relax constraints on aging imposed by the deleterious homozygous APOE ε 4 genotype.

From neuroscience, anthropology, and brain-imaging research, it is proposed a hypothesis that the evolution of increased physical activity served to reduce the amyloid plaque and vascular burden of APOE ε 4, relaxing genetic constraints on aging. The overall hypothesis is that aerobic physical activity had an essential role in the evolution of human aging and longevity (198).

Physical activity seems to diminish CAD risks in APOE ε 4 carriers to ε 4 non-carrier levels, whereas sedentary lifestyles may exacerbate CAD risk factors among ε 4 carriers (216,217). In a cross-sectional study, ε 4 carriers showed a significant protective effect of high-intensity activity, with athletic ε 2, ε 3, and ε 4 carriers having similar blood lipid profiles and sedentary ε 4 carriers showing significantly high levels of lipid risk factors for CAD (216). A similar result was found in a cross-sectional study of middle-aged highly fit and age-matched sedentary groups, where inactive ε 4 carriers had elevated risk factors of CAD, including higher circulating LDL levels compared with physically active ε 4 carriers, and compared with ε 3 carriers regardless of aerobic activity levels (217).

3.7 ApoE-4 on Modern Environment

Evidence suggests that increases in the human lifespan began as early as 1.8 million years ago (208), when our ancestors were likely homozygous for APOE ε 4. In an evolutionary context diseases such as CAD, AD and other age-related dementias, may be due, in part, to the mismatch between our genetic heritage and our modern environment. In fact, changes induced by modern-day environmental constraints and human behavior may

have led to greater vulnerability to the effects of APOE ε 4 in subgroups of elderly in which high levels of physical activity throughout life are no longer required. Without a continued lifestyle of high physical activity, regions of the world where the ε 4 allele remains highly prevalent (e.g., equatorial Africa with ε 4 frequencies approaching 50%) may experience a substantial increase in CAD, AD, and dementia with the increasing globalization of sedentary lifestyles. Brain function as measured by functional MRI also interacts with genetic risk for AD and exercise status (218). Exercise appears to improve brain aging in individuals carrying the ε 4 allele. These were demonstrated either by cross-sectional as by longitudinal studies (216,217,219,220).

Longitudinal studies suggest that physical inactivity leads to increased risk of developing dementia or AD in APOE ε 4 carriers (220). While mid-life exercise generally reduces the risk of developing AD or dementia in all subjects, carriers of the ε 4 allele who participated in higher amounts of mid-life leisure-time exercise had greater protection against dementia or AD approximately 20 years later compared with ε 4 noncarriers (219,220).Thus, the genetic risk imposed by the ε 4 allele may be particularly high among individuals leading sedentary lifestyles, with physical activity equalizing disease risk among all genotypes. The above evolutionary hypothesis sheds important light on current ideas for prevention of CAD and AD (198).

Although the possible hypotheses for the early evolution of the ε 4 allele have been suggested, it is important to note that our overall conjecture that the evolution of increased aerobic activity relaxed a constraint on aging in our ancestors having the ε 4 allele does not specifically depend on the vitamin D or other explanations for the early evolution of the ε 4 allele (198).

4 I THE MISMATCH OF ANCESTRAL GENOME WITH THE CONTEMPORARY BEHAVIOR

Approximately 30 years ago in a series of studies Backer et al. (1989) (221) and Hales et al. (1991) (222) have shown that men (at age of 64 years) with (recorded) lower birth weight and lower weight at 1y of age had the highest death rates than did those of normal birth weight. From those data they established the concept of metabolic programming during early life. Interactive effects of birth weight and current weight may vary by disease outcome such as blood hypertension (223), insulin resistance (224,225) diabetes (226,227) plasma cholesterol, triglycerides markers of inflammation and CVD (65). Additionally, there is a close correlation between nutrition and the recent exponential increase in the conditions of obesity (19), dyslipidemia (86), diabetes (57), hypertension (21), metabolic syndrome (35) and cardiovascular disease, as seen in nations who adopted the "western lifestyle". Thus, as our civilization evolved, a sedentary lifestyle and sodium- and energy-rich diet, the thrifty genotype is no longer advantageous, and may be maladaptive to disease phenotype,

such as hypertension, obesity and insulin resistance syndrome (117).

4.1 Obesity

Mammals have evolved mechanisms to store energy as fat during periods of plenty, which helps to guarantee survival during periods of drought and famine. According to this paradigm, a gene or a set of gene predisposing to obesity presumably evolved owing to a selective advantage in ancestral "feast and famine" environment and remained in polymorphic state in the population. The thrifty gene was under positive selection pressure in ancestral life when seasonal and climatic conditions resulted into fluctuating food availability.

Epigenetically hyperadiposity is resulted from the expression of genes favoring the storage of excess calories as fat that becomes maladaptive in a rapidly changing environment that minimizes the opportunities for energy expenditure and maximizes the opportunities for energy intake. Hence, the thrifty gene hypothesis suggests we evolved genes for efficient food collection and fat deposition to survive periods of famine and now that food is continuously available, these genes are disadvantageous because they make us obese in preparation for a famine that never comes. Hence obesity would be consequence of an adaptive response to our thrifty genes selected naturally from adverse ancestral scenarios. This genotype is turning pathological in the modern urban environment selectively affecting individuals with the gene(s) (19).

In their conceptual article Hales & Barker (1992) (228) proposed in the thrifty phenotype hypothesis that small human neonate represents a survival phenotype with a number of characteristics that increase its likelihood of immediate survival after poor nutritional experience in uterus. They postulated that under conditions of suboptimal in utero nutrition, the fetus must adapt to its environment to ensure survival of the organism, through a "sparing" of vital organs such as the brain at the expense of organs such as pancreas, kidney and skeletal muscle. It was proposed that a metabolic programming occurs to promote nutrient storage to provide a survival advantage in conditions of poor post- natal nutrition (229). However, variation in early life experience (metabolic programming) has many consequences in late life. For example undernutrition in utero increases the risk of NCDs in adulthood (80.81). In fact, these (mis)adaptations can lead to the post natal development of obesity, T2DM, blood hypertension, dyslipidemia and metabolic syndrome in conditions of adequate nutrition or overnutrition (18-20). Many epidemiologic studies in populations worldwide have robustly supported the initial findings that poor fetal growth resulting in low birth weight increases the risk of developing diseases in adulthood (230). Therefore, the thrifty phenotype hypothesis is widely used to interpret associations between early nutritional experience and degenerative disease risks (65).

Regarding these ancestral genoma, it seems that our genetically determined "survival strategy" turns against us now that we can eat whatever we want and whenever we want, and need little physical activity for food procurement. This, so-called obesogenic environment has never existed in the past, was consequently not part of selection pressure, and genetic adaptations might therefore also not be expected. Consequently, obesity is not a genetic disease, apart from some rare mutations (231).

Shortly after the end of World War II, an unprecedented environmental change took place in the western part of the globe. For the first time in human experience, the eating habits entire nations were altered by the marketing of processed food having in common a high carbohydrate and fat content, very low cost, and easy availability in supermarkets and fast-food restaurants. The aggressive promotion of these foods, coupled with a reduction in caloric expenditure resulting from new immobilizing technologies, changed the caloric balance of at least two generations of people (232). Moreover, there has been a decreased health consequences resulting from obesity by bringing a host of new drugs and devices to the market to better manage the adverse health effects that obesity promotes. Thus the changing obesogenic environment is widely in response to consumer's demand for labor saving technology and convenient, affordable food (233).

The conclusion that obesity is "caused by an interaction between genes and environment" distracts from its causation by our current "faulty" environment and therefore does not carry useful information from a public health perspective. The identification of the underlying genes is nevertheless important from the point of view of health care, since it may help us target treatments in those who have developed disease from underexposure or overexposure to the underlying environmental factor(s) (99).

4.2 Type 2 Diabetes

Paleolithic nutrition is virtually devoid of high-glycemic index carbohydrates (234). Hence, it has been proposed that insulin resistance has evolved as an adaptation to relatively low carbohydrate foods consumed by our ancestors for millions of years, along with higher physical activity (235). Relative insulin resistance evolved to aid metabolic partitioning between physical activity and other functions during constrained energy supply (148), which in turn relate to the selective pressure of a low glycaemic load diet with high meat content as our gather-hunter ancestors use to eat over ten thousand years ago. In this sense. T2DM is considered a thrifty phenotype exceptionally efficient in the intake and utilization of food with basic difference of a quick insulin trigger in response to food-induced hyperglycemia. This would lead to the more efficient utilization of food and tissue distribution of plasma glucose. The survival benefit of this phenotype was to minimize urinary glucose loss when fasting was promptly replaced by feasting (20). Further on, the agricultural revolution yielding carbohydrate-rich crops as staple foods relaxed the selection pressure. The subsequent industrial revolution enabled the skyrocketing of agricultural production, which provided a continuous (over)supply of calories for every society member for the first time in human history. Moreover, food processing introduced massive amounts of simple carbohydrates into our dietary repertoire. Although myriad signs indicate that our gene pool rapidly adapts to the novel nutritional environment many of us still carry gene variants that promote insulin resistance (236).

4.3 Essencial Blood Hypertension

The evolution of genetic susceptibility to hypertension is ancestral and, has been hypothesized to begin in Africa by the carriers of the (salt-sensitive)sodium-conserving (thrifty) genotype. However, the natural selection of thrifty genotype, which was a physiological adaptive mechanism for human survival, when on the current environment, is maladaptive to disease phenotype (21). In fact, this phenotype may be maladaptive to the modern environment of sodium abundance (128). Additionally, insulin increases sodium reabsorption in the kidney and promotes sympathetic nerve activity, Then, hypertensive patients with salt sensitivity are more insulin resistant than those with salt-resistance (117). Thus, high salt diet impairs insulin sensitivity only in hypertensive patients with salt sensitivity but not in those with salt-resistance, suggesting that there is a pathogenic link among hypertension, salt- sensitivity and insulin resistance (21). Furthermore, in the state of insulin resistance, the insulin- stimulated nitric oxide (NO) pathway is selectively impaired and the compensatory hyperinsulinemia may activate MAPK pathway, resulting in enhancement of vasoconstriction, pro- inflammation, increased sodium and water retention and the elevation of blood pressure (237). Hence, vascular deleterious effects of insulin resistance include induction of vasoconstriction and pro-inflammatory activity (21).

Thus, hypertension comes out as a mismatch between our ancestral genome with the current western lifestyle. With the switch to a sedentary lifestyle and sodium- and energy-rich diets (current obesogenic environment), the thrifty genotype and ancient frugal alleles, are no longer advantageous, and may be maladaptive to disease phenotype, resulting in hypertension, obesity and insulin resistance syndrome (21). The coexistence of insulin resistance and hypertension results in a substantial increase in the risk of developing cardiovascular disease and type 2 diabetes (65,121). The underlying mechanism is complex and may involve a low grade chronic inflammation and oxidative stress (238).

5 | RESISTANCE OF PATHOGENS TO ANTIBIOTICS

The interface of evolutionary biology and medicine understood that "humans coevolved with a normal community of symbiotic and parasitic microorganisms" and, from the progress of this interface, we have learned that pathogens evolve much faster than we do, so infection is unavoidable. That is because pathogens rapidly evolve resistance to antibiotics and, pathogens evolve strategies to circumvent host defenses, and the virulence levels are shaped by natural selection to maximize transmission.

Similarly to the evolved resistance of pathogens to antibiotics, cancers rapidly

evolve resistance to chemotherapy. Thus, far from suggesting quick new cures, the general messages of Evolutionary Medicine help to explain why disease is so prevalent and difficult to prevent (27).

The main lessons taken through evolutionary medicine would be:

a) Humans coevolved with a normal community of symbiotic bacteria and parasitic worms; when they are eliminated by either hygiene or antibiotics, our immune systems can react to this unnatural situation by producing allergies, asthma, and autoimmune disease, including very serious ones like Crohn's disease, which can be treated by ingesting eggs of parasitic worms (239); b) By receiving more antibiotic treatments than average before 2 years increases the risk of obesity and allergies (240,241); c) The widespread use of imperfect vaccines, vaccines that do not completely and permanently eliminate the pathogen from the body of the person vaccinated, could lead to an increase in the virulence of the pathogen (242); this is of particular concern in the case of malaria vaccines (243). These insights illustrate how evolutionary thinking on medical issues can sometimes illuminate features quite unexpected by non-evolutionary approaches (27).

EPIGENETICS OF NCDS

The Evolutionary Medicine establishes as general message that, the idea that common heritable diseases are caused by a few defective genes is usually incorrect (14). An evolutionary view suggests that many genetic variants interact with environments and other genes during development to influence disease phenotypes. Epigenetic changes are defined as mitotically inheritable alterations in gene expression that are not related to changes in DNA sequence. There are at least two distinct mechanisms through which epigenetic information can be inherited: histone modifications and DNA methylation (244).

Epigenetic modification of gene expression is one mechanism by which genetic susceptibility and environmental insults can lead to mostly of the contemporary NCDs. "One of the most important influences affecting genetic selection and adaptation is the interaction between a species and its food supply" (245).

It is noteworthy that disruptions of the equilibrium achieved in evolutionary conflicts of interest among relatives may be the basis of some mental diseases, particularly autism and schizophrenia (246). In line with the view that "Medicine needs evolution" (15), because "Nothing in medicine makes sense, except in the light of evolution" (41), two correlated hypotheses have been advanced (247,248). These hypotheses inspired by evolutionary theorizing, which "points to hypotheses that we otherwise might not even think of" (249), are based on the idea that evolution adapted genetically the metabolic physiology of our ancestors to cope with sugar only in diluted forms, because prehistorically diluted sugar was available abundantly in fresh fruits but undiluted sugar was inexistent (247,248). Those hypotheses (247,248) posit that evolutionarily conserved physiological traits make diluted sugar harmless and undiluted sugar harmful.

FUTURE DIRECTIONS

In the end, our understanding of human evolutionary history can help inform on how we should proceed from both a local and a global health perspective today, suggesting research directions leading to public health policies to support successful aging in older populations worldwide. This multidisciplinary approach links human evolution with health and provides a complementary perspective on aging and neurodegenerative disease that may help identify key mechanisms and targets for intervention. Thus, the context of human evolutionary history serves as a foundation to further advance multidisciplinary efforts toward unraveling the mechanisms behind exercise-induced neuroprotection and increased longevity with successful aging, while helping to identify those who may benefit most from exercise interventions (198).

1 | PHYSICAL ACTIVITY-APOE-4 INTERACTION

If longevity evolved in humans to, in part, allow grandparents to aid offspring in raising grandchildren, then we must understand how our ancestors aged successfully despite being homozygous for APOE ε 4. To understand how the long human lifespan evolved within this constraint, it is important to view lifespan evolution within the context of aging outcomes that we see in living humans. Variation in human aging today is often expressed as a continuum that ranges from successful aging, having a long lifespan with high levels of cognitive and physical function, to pathological aging with impaired cognition and diminished physical capacities that can lead to dementia and relatively increased mortality (213,214).

Studies suggest that lifestyle factors, specifically aerobic exercise, can have a positive impact on the aging brain, as well as physical longevity, especially in carriers of the ε 4 allele (218,219,250). Here, we argue that aerobic physical activity had an important role in the evolution of the human lifespan before the origins of the ε 2 and ε 3 alleles. The review of the evolutionary links between physical activity, brain aging, and longevity are especially timely given the intense research focus on the use of exercise to reduce risks of developing disorders such as cardiovascular disease, AD, and other age-related dementias, including vascular dementia (218).

Regarding the brain functions, odds ratios for cognitive decline are significantly higher among ε 4 carriers who exercised for less than 1 h per day over 3 years compared with ε 4 carriers who exercised for more than 1 h per day (250). In some studies, engagement in physical activity seems to reduce risks of cognitive decline in ε 4 carriers only (251), whereas others have found that physical activity reduces risk of AD in ε 4 carriers, but has a similar reduction in dementia risk for all genotypes (252). Thus, in studies with high quality measures of physical activity, there is clear and growing support that engagement in physical exercise has a protective effect for APOE ε 4 carriers (198).

APOE ε 4 carriers who were physically active also had a lower probability of cognitive decline compared with less active ε 4 carriers (251). Finally, in homozygous ε 4 women, cardiovascular fitness was positively correlated with performance on a series of cognitive tests (253).

Among the mechanisms behind the protective effects of exercise on pathological brain aging there are indications of enhanced neurogenesis (254), showing that exercise and physical activity may reduce amyloid deposition in the brain, a key marker of AD pathology (255,256). Regarding the potential interaction between APOE genotype, physical activity, and brain structure, several studies have found evidence that, without taking genotype into account, physical activity and exercise can affect the volume of brain structures in both cognitively normal older adults, and in individuals with AD or dementia. Greater aerobic fitness in cross-sectional studies of older adults is associated with increased white matter tract integrity in the frontal lobes, temporal lobes, and the uncinate fasciculus and cingulum (257,258), larger gray matter volumes in temporal, parietal, and inferior frontal areas (259–262), and increased cortical, hippocampal, and whole-brain volume (263–265).

Intervention studies in aging cohorts found that several months of aerobic exercise can increase gray matter volume in the prefrontal cortex, lateral temporal lobe, and the hippocampus (260,266,267). In adults in the early stages of AD, aerobically fit subjects have larger total gray matter volumes, and greater volumes of the medial temporal lobe compared with less fit subjects (263,268).

Thus, there is growing evidence that physical activity, exercise, and aerobic fitness significantly reduce CAD risk and improve cognitive aging and biomarkers of AD pathology in APOE ε 4 carriers. Given the observed differences in brain function, structure, and connectivity, as well as reports showing the preferential build-up of A β in adult ε 4 carriers, it is possible that early or lifelong physical activity increases clearance of A β potentially through improved sleep or other mechanisms, and enhances brain resilience through neuroprotective processes, such as increased perfusion and neurogenesis. This hypothesis may provide an explanation for how the long human lifespan evolved despite the early high prevalence of the ε 4 allele (198).

In all cases, to contribute substantially to the well being and survival of younger kin, the evolution of the long human lifespan likely required older individuals to maintain high levels of both physical and cognitive health (198). From the present knowledge, our evolutionary heritage may help us tailor preventative interventions for individuals who have ancestral genotypes. These conclusions are important for populations around the world, where ε 4 allele frequencies can vary from <5% to nearly 50% (192).

REFERENCES

1. Anderson E, Durstine JL. **Physical activity, exercise, and chronic diseases: A brief review**. Sport Med Heal Sci. 2019 Dec;1(1):3–10.

2. Burini RC. **ORGANIZATIONAL CHALLENGES FACING BY THE BRAZILIAN PUBLIC HEALTH IN TACKLING THE NON-COMMUNICABLE CHRONIC DISEASES BY THE HOMEOSTATIC MODEL**. In: Medicina: Esforço Comum da Promoção da Saúde e Prevenção e Tratamento das Doenças 5 [Internet]. Atena Editora; 2021. p. 99–121. Available from: https://www.atenaeditora.com.br/post-ebook/3817

3. Bertoldi A, Helfer A, Camargo AL, Tavares NUL, Kanavos P. Is the Brazilian pharmaceutical policy ensuring population access to essential medicines? Global Health [Internet]. 2012;8(1):6. Available from: http://globalizationandhealth.biomedcentral.com/articles/10.1186/1744-8603-8-6

4. Ministério da Saúde. Fundação Oswaldo Cruz. **Programa Farmácia Popular do Brasil.** Editora da Ministério da Saúde; 2005. 102 p.

5. Vieira F, Mendes A. **Evolução dos gastos com medicamentos: crescimento que preocupa.** An do VIII Encontro da Assoc Bras Econ da Saúde. 2007;

6. Burini RC. **STRESS AND DISTRESS AS BASIC PRINCIPLES OF HOMEOSTASIS AND ALLOSTASIS MODELS FOR UNDERSTANDING PHYSIOLOGICAL REGULATIONS AND RATIONAL THERAPEUTICS OF CONTEMPORARY CHRONIC DISEASES**. In: Medicina: Esforço Comum da Promoção da Saúde e Prevenção e Tratamento das Doenças 3 [Internet]. Atena Editora; 2021. p. 165–86. Available from: https://www.atenaeditora.com.br/post-ebook/3819

7. Schwartz MW, Woods SC, Porte D, Seeley RJ, Baskin DG. **Central nervous system control of food intake**. Nature [Internet]. 2000 Apr;404(6778):661–71. Available from: http://www.nature.com/articles/35007534

8. Moller DE. **New drug targets for type 2 diabetes and the metabolic syndrome**. Nature [Internet]. 2001 Dec;414(6865):821–7. Available from: http://www.nature.com/articles/414821a

9. Laakso A, Mohn AR, Gainetdinov RR, Caron MG. **Experimental Genetic Approaches to Addiction.** Neuron [Internet]. 2002 Oct;36(2):213–28. Available from: https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/ S0896627302009728

10. Sterling P. **Principles of allostasis: optimal design, predictive regulation, pathophysiology and rational therapeutics.** In: Schulkin J, editor. Allostasis, Homeostasis, and the Costs of Adaptation. Cambridge University Press; 2004. p. 17–64.

11. Carretero OA, Oparil S. **Essential Hypertension**. Circulation [Internet]. 2000 Jan 25;101(3):329–35. Available from: https://www.ahajournals.org/doi/10.1161/01.CIR.101.3.329

12. Weiner H. **Notes on an Evolutionary Medicine**. Psychosom Med [Internet]. 1998;60(4):510–20. Available from: http://journals.lww.com/00006842-199807000-00020

13. Stearns SC, Byars SG, Govindaraju DR, Ewbank D. **Measuring selection in contemporary human populations**. Nat Rev Genet [Internet]. 2010 Sep 3;11(9):611–22. Available from: https://www.nature. com/articles/nrg2831

14. Nesse RM, Stearns SC. **The great opportunity: Evolutionary applications to medicine and public health**. Evol Appl [Internet]. 2008 Feb;1(1):28–48. Available from: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/ doi/10.1111/j.1752-4571.2007.00006.x

15. Nesse RM, Stearns SC, Omenn GS. **Medicine Needs Evolution**. Science (80-) [Internet]. 2006 Feb 24;311(5764):1071–1071. Available from: https://www.science.org/doi/10.1126/science.1125956

16. Lasker GW. Human Biological Adaptability. Science (80-) [Internet]. 1969 Dec 19;166(3912):1480–6. Available from: https://www.science.org/doi/10.1126/science.166.3912.1480

17. Wells JCK, Stock JT. **The biology of the colonizing ape**. Am J Phys Anthropol [Internet]. 2007;134(S45):191–222. Available from: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1002/ajpa.20735

18. Burini RC, Leonard WR. **The evolutionary roles of nutrition selection and dietary quality in the human brain size and encephalization**. Nutrire [Internet]. 2018 Dec 15;43(1):19. Available from: https://nutrirejournal.biomedcentral.com/articles/10.1186/s41110-018-0078-x

19. Burini RC, Torezan GA, Sloan LA, Corrente JE, McLellan KCP. **Dietary Intake Association** with IFG and Responses of a Lifestyle Changing Protocol in a Community-B based Adult Cohort. Endocrinol Metab Syndr [Internet]. 2014;03(01). Available from: https://www.omicsonline.org/ open-access/dietary-intake-association-with-ifg-and-responses-of-a-lifestyle-changing-protocol-in-acommunityb-based-adult-cohort-2161-1017.1000125.php?aid=24795

20. Mclellan K, Ramos F, Corrente J, Sloan L, Burini R. **Evolutionary roles of dietary fiber in succeeding metabolic syndrome (MetS) and its responses to a lifestyle modification program: A Brazilian Community-based study**. In: Dietary fiber: production challenges, food sources and health benefits. Nova Publishers; 2015. p. 1–7.

21. Burini RC, Nakagaki MS, Michelin E, Burini FHP. **Treating Blood Hypertension in a Brazilian Community: Moving from Reactive Homeostatic Model to Proactive Allostatic Healthcare**. Ann Clin Hypertens. 2018;2:001–16.

22. Burini RC, Anderson E, Durstine JL, Carson JA. **Inflammation, physical activity, and chronic disease: An evolutionary perspective**. Sport Med Heal Sci [Internet]. 2020 Mar;2(1):1–6. Available from: https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S2666337620300081

23. Rosenberg NA, Pritchard JK, Weber JL, Cann HM, Kidd KK, Zhivotovsky LA, et al. **Genetic Structure of Human Populations**. Science (80-) [Internet]. 2002 Dec 20;298(5602):2381–5. Available from: https://www.science.org/doi/10.1126/science.1078311

24. Gignoux CR, Henn BM, Mountain JL. **Rapid, global demographic expansions after the origins of agriculture**. Proc Natl Acad Sci [Internet]. 2011 Apr 12;108(15):6044–9. Available from: https://pnas.org/ doi/full/10.1073/pnas.0914274108

25. Cordain L, Eaton SB, Sebastian A, Mann N, Lindeberg S, Watkins BA, et al. **Origins and evolution of the Western diet: health implications for the 21st century**. Am J Clin Nutr [Internet]. 2005 Feb 1;81(2):341–54. Available from: https://academic.oup.com/ajcn/article/81/2/341/4607411

26. NEEL J V. **Diabetes mellitus: a "thrifty" genotype rendered detrimental by "progress"?** Am J Hum Genet [Internet]. 1962 Dec;14:353–62. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/13937884

27. Stearns SC, Nesse RM, Govindaraju DR, Ellison PT. **Evolutionary perspectives on health and medicine**. Proc Natl Acad Sci [Internet]. 2010 Jan 26;107(suppl_1):1691–5. Available from: https://pnas. org/doi/full/10.1073/pnas.0914475107

28. Kano HT, Burini FHP, Burini RC. **NUTRITIONAL AND PHYSICAL-FITNESS FACTORS COURSING WITH NON-COMMUNICABLE DISEASES FROM OVERWEIGHT TO A HIGHER RISK OF VASCULAR AND LIVER OUTCOMES IN A COMMUNITY-BASED ADULTS**. Int J Heal Sci [Internet]. 2022 Mar 15;2(16):2–16. Available from: https://www.atenaeditora.com.br/post-artigo/63777

29. Burini RC, Oliveira EP, Michelin E, Mclellan KCP. **Epidemic obesity: an evolutionary perspective on the modern obesity crisis to a rationale for a treatment. A Brazilian community-based data.** Obes Epidemic. 2013;1:20–38.

30. Burini RC. **Physical Exercises: From the Evolutionary Thriftiness to the Epigenetics of Contemporary Diseases and Current Therapeutics for Physical Inactivity Diseasomes.** In: Sports Medicine [Internet]. SMGroup; 2017. Available from: www.smgebooks.com

31. Burini RC. The Brazilian Dynamic-Cohort Study "Moving for Health" as a Proactive model of Evolutionary/Behavioral –Medicine to Non-Communicable Diseases in a community- based subjects. Int J Heal Sci [Internet]. 2022 Jan 17;2(2):2–23. Available from: https://www.atenaeditora. com.br/post-artigo/61560

32. Castanho G, Ravagnani C, Morelli M, Burini R. **Cost-effectiveness of exercise program to reduce weight in adults**. Rev Bras Atividade Física e Saúde. 2011;16:316–21.

33. Nakagaki MS, Kano HT, Burini RC. **Brazilian Primary Care of T2D with Reactive-Homeostatic and Lifestyle Changing- Allostatic Approaches: A Cost-Effectiveness Data**. Am J Sport Sci [Internet]. 2018;6(3):98. Available from: http://www.sciencepublishinggroup.com/journal/paperinfo?journalid=155&doi=10.11648/j.ajss.20180603.15

34. Burini RC, Simonetti LA, Maesta N, Waib PH. **Efficiency and costless of a long-term physical exercise program to non-medicated hypertensive males.** Adv Stud Med Sci [Internet]. 2013;111–23. Available from: http://www.m-hikari.com/asms/asms2013/asms1-4-2013/13010.html

35. Burini RC, Kano HT, Burini FHP, McLellan KP. Metabolic Syndrome – From the Mismatched Evolutionary Genome with the Current Obesogenic Environment to the Lifestyle Modification as a Primary Care of Free-Living Adults in a Brazilian Community. In: Morton J, editor. Metabolic Syndrome: Clinical Aspects, Management Options and Health Effects [Internet]. 1st ed. NOVA Science Publishers; 2017. p. 31. Available from: https://www.novapublishers.com/catalog/product_info. php?products_id=60643

36. Wells JCK, Nesse RM, Sear R, Johnstone RA, Stearns SC. **Evolutionary public health: introducing the concept**. Lancet [Internet]. 2017 Jul;390(10093):500–9. Available from: https:// linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S014067361730572X 37. Waizbort RF, Luz MRMP da. **Medicina Evolutiva: Incorporando a Teoria da Evolução na Formação de Profissionais de Saúde Brasileiros**. Rev Bras Educ Med [Internet]. 2017 Dec;41(4):487–96. Available from: http://www.scielo.br/scielo.php?script=sci_arttext&pid=S0100-55022017000400487&Ing=pt&tIng=pt

38. Stearns SC, Ebert D. Evolution in Health and Disease: Work in Progress. Q Rev Biol [Internet]. 2001 Dec;76(4):417–32. Available from: https://www.journals.uchicago.edu/doi/10.1086/420539

39. Zampieri F. **Medicine, Evolution, and Natural Selection: An Historical Overview.** Q Rev Biol [Internet]. 2009 Dec;84(4):333–55. Available from: https://www.journals.uchicago.edu/ doi/10.1086/648122

40. Garland T, Carter PA. **Evolutionary Physiology.** Annu Rev Physiol [Internet]. 1994 Oct;56(1):579–621. Available from: https://www.annualreviews.org/doi/10.1146/annurev.ph.56.030194.003051

41. Varki A. Nothing in medicine makes sense, except in the light of evolution. J Mol Med [Internet]. 2012 May 27;90(5):481–94. Available from: http://link.springer.com/10.1007/s00109-012-0900-5

42. Stearns SC, Ackermann M, Doebeli M, Kaiser M. Experimental evolution of aging, growth, and reproduction in fruitflies. Proc Natl Acad Sci [Internet]. 2000 Mar 28;97(7):3309–13. Available from: https://pnas.org/doi/full/10.1073/pnas.97.7.3309

43. Winterhalder B, Smith EA. **Analyzing adaptive strategies: Human behavioral ecology at twentyfive.** Evol Anthropol Issues, News, Rev [Internet]. 2000;9(2):51–72. Available from: https://onlinelibrary. wiley.com/doi/10.1002/(SICI)1520-6505(2000)9:2%3C51::AID-EVAN1%3E3.0.CO;2-7

44. Nettle D, Gibson MA, Lawson DW, Sear R. **Human behavioral ecology: current research and future prospects.** Behav Ecol [Internet]. 2013;24(5):1031–40. Available from: https://academic.oup. com/beheco/article-lookup/doi/10.1093/beheco/ars222

45. Winslow C-EA. **The Untilled Fields of Public Health.** Science (80-) [Internet]. 1920 Jan 9;51(1306):23–33. Available from: https://www.science.org/doi/10.1126/science.51.1306.23

46. Rook G, Bäckhed F, Levin BR, McFall-Ngai MJ, McLean AR. **Evolution, human-microbe interactions, and life history plasticity**. Lancet [Internet]. 2017 Jul;390(10093):521–30. Available from: https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0140673617305664

47. Shu D-G, Luo H-L, Conway Morris S, Zhang X-L, Hu S-X, Chen L, et al. Lower Cambrian vertebrates from south China. Nature [Internet]. 1999 Nov;402(6757):42–6. Available from: http:// www.nature.com/articles/46965

48. Domazet-Loso T, Tautz D. An Ancient Evolutionary Origin of Genes Associated with Human Genetic Diseases. Mol Biol Evol [Internet]. 2008 Aug 5;25(12):2699–707. Available from: https://academic.oup.com/mbe/article-lookup/doi/10.1093/molbev/msn214

49. Wallace DC. A Mitochondrial Paradigm of Metabolic and Degenerative Diseases, Aging, and Cancer: A Dawn for Evolutionary Medicine. Annu Rev Genet [Internet]. 2005 Dec 1;39(1):359–407. Available from: https://www.annualreviews.org/doi/10.1146/annurev.genet.39.110304.095751

50. Godfrey KM, Gluckman PD, Hanson MA. **Developmental origins of metabolic disease: life course and intergenerational perspectives.** Trends Endocrinol Metab [Internet]. 2010 Apr;21(4):199–205. Available from: https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S1043276009002197

51. Wells JCK. **The Evolution of Human Adaptability**. In: The Metabolic Ghetto [Internet]. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press; 2016. p. 167–88. Available from: https://www.cambridge.org/core/product/ identifier/9780511972959%23CN-bp-9/type/book_part

52. Haig D. **Transfers and transitions: Parent–offspring conflict, genomic imprinting, and the evolution of human life history**. Proc Natl Acad Sci [Internet]. 2010 Jan 26;107(suppl_1):1731–5. Available from: https://pnas.org/doi/full/10.1073/pnas.0904111106

53. Finch CE, Rose MR. Hormones and the Physiological Architecture of Life History Evolution. Q Rev Biol [Internet]. 1995 Mar;70(1):1–52. Available from: https://www.journals.uchicago.edu/ doi/10.1086/418864

54. Haig D. **Genetic Conflicts in Human Pregnancy.** Q Rev Biol [Internet]. 1993 Dec;68(4):495–532. Available from: https://www.journals.uchicago.edu/doi/10.1086/418300

55. Kleinridders A, Ferris HA, Cai W, Kahn CR. **Insulin action in brain regulates systemic metabolism and brain function.** Diabetes [Internet]. 2014 Jul;63(7):2232–43. Available from: http:// www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/24931034

56. McGregor G, Malekizadeh Y, Harvey J. **Minireview: Food for Thought: Regulation of Synaptic Function by Metabolic Hormones**. Mol Endocrinol [Internet]. 2015 Jan 1;29(1):3–13. Available from: https://academic.oup.com/mend/article/29/1/3/2556780

57. Portero McLellan KC, Minoro R, A. Sloan L, Carlos R. **Epigenetics of Glucose Metabolism and the Basis for T2DM Interventions**. In: Type 2 Diabetes [Internet]. InTech; 2013. Available from: http:// www.intechopen.com/books/type-2-diabetes/epigenetics-of-glucose-metabolism-and-the-basis-for-t2dm-interventions

58. Schneider JE. **Energy balance and reproduction**. Physiol Behav [Internet]. 2004 Apr;81(2):289–317. Available from: https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0031938404000496

59. Li J, Li F, Zhao A. **Inflammation and leptin.** Drug Discov Today Dis Mech [Internet]. 2006 Sep;3(3):387–93. Available from: https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S1740676506000629

60. Victora CG, Adair L, Fall C, Hallal PC, Martorell R, Richter L, et al. **Maternal and child undernutrition: consequences for adult health and human capital.** Lancet [Internet]. 2008 Jan;371(9609):340–57. Available from: https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0140673607616924

61. Bartz S, Mody A, Hornik C, Bain J, Muehlbauer M, Kiyimba T, et al. **Severe Acute Malnutrition in Childhood: Hormonal and Metabolic Status at Presentation, Response to Treatment, and Predictors of Mortality.** J Clin Endocrinol Metab [Internet]. 2014 Jun 1;99(6):2128–37. Available from: https://academic.oup.com/jcem/article/99/6/2128/2537782

62. Desborough JP. **The stress response to trauma and surgery.** Br J Anaesth [Internet]. 2000 Jul;85(1):109–17. Available from: https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0007091217373403

63. Moore T. Genomic imprinting in mammalian development: a parental tug-of-war. Trends Genet [Internet]. 1991 Feb;7(2):45–9. Available from: https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/016895259190230N

64. TRIVERS RL. **Parent-Offspring Conflict.** Am Zool [Internet]. 1974 Feb 1;14(1):249–64. Available from: https://academic.oup.com/icb/article-lookup/doi/10.1093/icb/14.1.249

65. Wells JCK. **The thrifty phenotype: An adaptation in growth or metabolism?** Am J Hum Biol [Internet]. 2011 Jan;23(1):65–75. Available from: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1002/ajhb.21100

66. Jasienska G, Bribiescas RG, Furberg A-S, Helle S, Núñez-de la Mora A. **Human reproduction and health: an evolutionary perspective.** Lancet [Internet]. 2017 Jul;390(10093):510–20. Available from: https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0140673617305731

67. Penn DJ, Smith KR. **Differential fitness costs of reproduction between the sexes.** Proc Natl Acad Sci [Internet]. 2007 Jan 9;104(2):553–8. Available from: https://pnas.org/doi/full/10.1073/ pnas.0609301103

68. Le Bourg É. **Does reproduction decrease longevity in human beings?** Ageing Res Rev [Internet]. 2007 Aug;6(2):141–9. Available from: https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S1568163707000207

69. Caudell MA, Quinlan RJ. **Resource Availability, Mortality, and Fertility: A Path Analytic Approach to Global Life-History Variation.** Hum Biol [Internet]. 2012 Apr;84(2):101–25. Available from: http://www.bioone.org/doi/abs/10.3378/027.084.0201

70. Office for National Statistics. Inequality in healthy life expectancy at birth by national deciles of area deprivation in England, 2009-2011. 2014.

71. Wells JCK. The Metabolic Ghetto: An Evolutionary Perspective on Nutrition, Power Relations and Chronic Disease. Press CU, editor. 2016. 623 p.

72. Frazer KA, Murray SS, Schork NJ, Topol EJ. **Human genetic variation and its contribution to complex traits.** Nat Rev Genet [Internet]. 2009 Apr;10(4):241–51. Available from: http://www.nature. com/articles/nrg2554

73. Lawson DW, Alvergne A, Gibson MA. **The life-history trade-off between fertility and child survival.** Proc R Soc B Biol Sci [Internet]. 2012 Dec 7;279(1748):4755–64. Available from: https:// royalsocietypublishing.org/doi/10.1098/rspb.2012.1635

74. Guyatt HL, Snow RW. **Impact of Malaria during Pregnancy on Low Birth Weight in Sub-Saharan Africa.** Clin Microbiol Rev [Internet]. 2004 Oct;17(4):760–9. Available from: https://journals. asm.org/doi/10.1128/CMR.17.4.760-769.2004

75. Lochmiller RL, Deerenberg C. **Trade-offs in evolutionary immunology: just what is the cost of immunity?** Oikos [Internet]. 2000 Jan;88(1):87–98. Available from: http://doi.wiley.com/10.1034/j.1600-0706.2000.880110.x

76. Benhariz M, Goulet O, Salas J, Colomb V, Ricour C. **Energy cost of fever in children on total parenteral nutrition.** Clin Nutr [Internet]. 1997 Oct;16(5):251–5. Available from: https://linkinghub. elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0261561497800374

77. Lee G, Yori P, Olortegui MP, Pan W, Caulfield L, Gilman RH, et al. **Comparative effects of vivax malaria, fever and diarrhoea on child growth.** Int J Epidemiol [Internet]. 2012 Apr;41(2):531–9. Available from: https://academic.oup.com/ije/article-lookup/doi/10.1093/ije/dyr190

78. Panter-Brick C, Lunn PG, Baker R, Todd A. **Elevated acute-phase protein in stunted Nepali children reporting low morbidity: different rural and urban profiles.** Br J Nutr [Internet]. 2001 Jan 9;85(1):125–31. Available from: https://www.cambridge.org/core/product/identifier/S0007114501000162/ type/journal_article

79. Crimmins EM, Finch CE. **Infection, inflammation, height, and longevity.** Proc Natl Acad Sci [Internet]. 2006 Jan 10;103(2):498–503. Available from: https://pnas.org/doi/full/10.1073/ pnas.0501470103

80. Barker DJP. **Fetal growth and adult disease.** BJOG An Int J Obstet Gynaecol [Internet]. 1992 Apr;99(4):275–6. Available from: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1111/j.1471-0528.1992.tb13719.x

81. Gluckman PD, Hanson MA, Cooper C, Thornburg KL. Effect of In Utero and Early-Life Conditions on Adult Health and Disease. N Engl J Med [Internet]. 2008 Jul 3;359(1):61–73. Available from: http:// www.nejm.org/doi/abs/10.1056/NEJMra0708473

82. Antón SC. **Natural history of Homo erectus.** Am J Phys Anthropol [Internet]. 2003;Suppl 37:126–70. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/14666536

83. Ruff CB, Trinkaus E, Holliday TW. **Body mass and encephalization in Pleistocene Homo**. Nature [Internet]. 1997 May;387(6629):173–6. Available from: http://www.nature.com/articles/387173a0

84. McHenry HM, **Coffing K. Australopithecus to Homo : Transformations in Body and Mind.** Annu Rev Anthropol [Internet]. 2000 Oct;29(1):125–46. Available from: https://www.annualreviews.org/ doi/10.1146/annurev.anthro.29.1.125

85. Aiello LC. **Brains and guts in human evolution: The Expensive Tissue Hypothesis.** Brazilian J Genet [Internet]. 1997 Mar;20(1):141–8. Available from: http://www.scielo.br/scielo.php?script=sci_arttext&pid=S0100-84551997000100023&Ing=en&tlng=en

86. Burini RC, Nunes C das N, Kano HT, Nakagaki MS. Epygenetics of Plasma Cholesterol Variation : From an Evolutionary Genome and Environmental-Induced Frugality to Contemporary Diseases-Basis for Primary Care with Lifestyle Modifications. Adv Dyslipidemia. 2016;1:2–35.

87. Wells JCK. Thrift: a guide to thrifty genes, thrifty phenotypes and thrifty norms. Int J Obes [Internet]. 2009 Dec 15;33(12):1331–8. Available from: http://www.nature.com/articles/ijo2009175

88. Neel J V. **The "Thrifty Genotype" in 19981**. Nutr Rev [Internet]. 2009 Apr 27;57(5):2–9. Available from: https://academic.oup.com/nutritionreviews/article-lookup/doi/10.1111/j.1753-4887.1999.tb01782.x

89. Soeters MR, Soeters PB, Schooneman MG, Houten SM, Romijn JA. **Adaptive reciprocity of lipid** and glucose metabolism in human short-term starvation. Am J Physiol Metab [Internet]. 2012 Dec 15;303(12):E1397–407. Available from: https://www.physiology.org/doi/10.1152/ajpendo.00397.2012

90. Wood B, Collard M. **The human genus.** Science [Internet]. 1999 Apr 2;284(5411):65–71. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/10102822

91. Rosenberg KR. **The evolution of modern human childbirth**. In: American Journal of Physical Anthropology. 1992. p. 89–124.

92. Neel J V. **Diabetes mellitus: a "thrifty" genotype rendered detrimental by "progress"?** 1962. Bull World Health Organ [Internet]. 1999;77(8):694–703; discussion 692-3. Available from: http://www. ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/10516792

93. Norgan N. **The beneficial effects of body fat and adipose tissue in humans*.** Int J Obes [Internet]. 1997 Sep 18;21(9):738–46. Available from: http://www.nature.com/articles/0800473

94. Leonard W, Snodgrass J, Robertson M. **Evolutionary perspectives on fat ingestion and metabolism in humans.** In: Montmayeur JP le CJ, editor. Fat detection: taste, texture, and post ingestive effects [Internet]. Boca Raton, FL: CRC Press/Taylor & Francis; 2010. Available from: http:// www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK53561/

95. Leonard WR, Robertson ML, Snodgrass JJ, Kuzawa CW. **Metabolic correlates of hominid brain evolution.** Comp Biochem Physiol Part A Mol Integr Physiol [Internet]. 2003 Sep;136(1):5–15. Available from: https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S1095643303001326

96. Kuzawa CW. Adipose tissue in human infancy and childhood: an evolutionary perspective. Am J Phys Anthropol [Internet]. 1998;Suppl 27:177–209. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/ pubmed/9881526

97. Antón S. **An ecomorphological model of the initial hominid dispersal from Africa.** J Hum Evol [Internet]. 2002 Dec;43(6):773–85. Available from: https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0047248402906020

98. Finch CE, Stanford CB. **Meat-Adaptive Genes and the Evolution of Slower Aging in Humans.** Q Rev Biol [Internet]. 2004 Mar;79(1):3–50. Available from: https://www.journals.uchicago.edu/ doi/10.1086/381662

99. Muskiet FAJ. **Pathophysiology and Evolutionary Aspects of Dietary Fats and Long-Chain Polyunsaturated Fatty Acids across the Life Cycle [Internet]**. Fat Detection: Taste, Texture, and Post Ingestive Effects. 2010. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/21452482

100. Sclafani A. **Psychobiology of food preferences.** Int J Obes [Internet]. 2001 Dec 8;25(S5):S13–6. Available from: http://www.nature.com/articles/0801905

101. Gaillard D, Passilly-Degrace P, Besnard P. **Molecular Mechanisms of Fat Preference and Overeating**. Ann N Y Acad Sci [Internet]. 2008 Oct;1141(1):163–75. Available from: http://doi.wiley. com/10.1196/annals.1441.028

102. le Coutre J, Schmitt JA. **Food ingredients and cognitive performance**. Curr Opin Clin Nutr Metab Care [Internet]. 2008 Nov;11(6):706–10. Available from: http://journals.lww.com/00075197-200811000-00006

103. Erlanson-Albertsson C. **Fat-Rich Food Palatability and Appetite Regulation**. In: Francis CP&, editor. Fat Detection: Taste, Texture, and Post Ingestive Effects. 2010.

104. Brown AJ, Galea AM. CHOLESTEROL AS AN EVOLUTIONARY RESPONSE TO LIVING WITH OXYGEN. Evolution (N Y) [Internet]. 2010 Apr 14;no-no. Available from: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/ doi/10.1111/j.1558-5646.2010.01011.x

105. Dietschy JM, Turley SD. Thematic review series: Brain Lipids. Cholesterol metabolism in the central nervous system during early development and in the mature animal. J Lipid Res [Internet]. 2004 Aug;45(8):1375–97. Available from: https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0022227520313006

106. Glenn Northcutt R, Kaas JH. **The emergence and evolution of mammalian neocortex.** Trends Neurosci [Internet]. 1995 Sep;18(9):373–9. Available from: https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/016622369593932N

107. Clark DA, Mitra PP, Wang SS-H. **Scalable architecture in mammalian brains.** Nature [Internet]. 2001 May 10;411(6834):189–93. Available from: http://www.nature.com/articles/35075564

108. Dobbing J, Sands J. **Growth and development of the brain and spinal cord of the guinea pig.** Brain Res [Internet]. 1970 Jan;17(1):115–23. Available from: https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/ pii/0006899370903112

109. Galea AM, Brown AJ. Special relationship between sterols and oxygen: Were sterols an adaptation to aerobic life? Free Radic Biol Med [Internet]. 2009 Sep;47(6):880–9. Available from: https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0891584909003785

110. DeBose-Boyd RA. Feedback regulation of cholesterol synthesis: sterol-accelerated ubiquitination and degradation of HMG CoA reductase. Cell Res [Internet]. 2008 Jun 27;18(6):609–21. Available from: http://www.nature.com/articles/cr200861

111. Smith LL. **Another cholesterol hypothesis: Cholesterol as antioxidant.** Free Radic Biol Med [Internet]. 1991 Jan;11(1):47–61. Available from: https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/0891584991901878

112. Summons RE, Bradley AS, Jahnke LL, Waldbauer JR. **Steroids, triterpenoids and molecular oxygen.** Philos Trans R Soc B Biol Sci [Internet]. 2006 Jun 29;361(1470):951–68. Available from: https://royalsocietypublishing.org/doi/10.1098/rstb.2006.1837

113. Khan N, Shen J, Chang TY, Chang CC, Fung PCW, Grinberg O, et al. **Plasma Membrane Cholesterol: A Possible Barrier to Intracellular Oxygen in Normal and Mutant CHO Cells Defective in Cholesterol Metabolism**. Biochemistry [Internet]. 2003 Jan 1;42(1):23–9. Available from: https://pubs.acs.org/doi/10.1021/bi026039t

114. Menchaca H, Michalek V, Rhode T, Hirsch AT, Tuna N, Buchwald H. **Improvement of blood** oxygen diffusion capacity and anginal symptoms by cholesterol lowering with simvastatin. J Appl Res. 2004;4:410–8.

115. Widomska J, Raguz M, Subczynski WK. **Oxygen permeability of the lipid bilayer membrane made of calf lens lipids.** Biochim Biophys Acta - Biomembr [Internet]. 2007 Oct;1768(10):2635–45. Available from: https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0005273607002337

116. Johnson AR, Justin Milner J, Makowski L. **The inflammation highway: metabolism accelerates inflammatory traffic in obesity.** Immunol Rev [Internet]. 2012 Sep;249(1):218–38. Available from: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1111/j.1600-065X.2012.01151.x

117. Zhou M-S, Wang A, Yu H. Link between insulin resistance and hypertension: What is the evidence from evolutionary biology? Diabetol Metab Syndr [Internet]. 2014 Jan 31;6(1):12. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/24485020

118. Tsatsoulis A, Mantzaris MD, Bellou S, Andrikoula M. **Insulin resistance: An adaptive mechanism becomes maladaptive in the current environment** — **An evolutionary perspective**. Metabolism [Internet]. 2013 May;62(5):622–33. Available from: https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0026049512004386

119. Straub RH. Concepts of evolutionary medicine and energy regulation contribute to the etiology of systemic chronic inflammatory diseases. Brain Behav Immun [Internet]. 2011 Jan;25(1):1–5. Available from: https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0889159110004277

120. Norton L, Parr T, Bardsley RG, Ye H, Tsintzas K. **Characterization of GLUT4 and calpain expression in healthy human skeletal muscle during fasting and refeeding**. Acta Physiol (Oxf) [Internet]. 2007 Mar;189(3):233–40. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/17305703

121. Soeters MR, Soeters PB. **The evolutionary benefit of insulin resistance**. Clin Nutr [Internet]. 2012 Dec;31(6):1002–7. Available from: https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0261561412001112

122. Newman WP, Brodows RG. **Insulin action during acute starvation: Evidence for selective insulin resistance in normal man.** Metabolism [Internet]. 1983 Jun;32(6):590–6. Available from: https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/002604958390029X

123. Nygren J, Thorell A, Efendic S, Nair KS, Ljungqvist O. **Site of Insulin Resistance after Surgery: The Contribution of Hypocaloric Nutrition and Bed Rest**. Clin Sci [Internet]. 1997 Aug 1;93(2):137–46. Available from: https://portlandpress.com/clinsci/article/93/2/137/76724/Site-of-Insulin-Resistance-after-Surgery-The

124. SVANFELDT M. Effects of 3 days of "postoperative" low caloric feeding with or without bed rest on insulin sensitivity in healthy subjects. Clin Nutr [Internet]. 2003 Feb;22(1):31–8. Available from: https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0261561402905893

125. Park JH, Stoffers DA, Nicholls RD, Simmons RA. **Development of type 2 diabetes following intrauterine growth retardation in rats is associated with progressive epigenetic silencing of Pdx1.** J Clin Invest [Internet]. 2008 May 8; Available from: http://www.jci.org/articles/view/33655

126. Moreno H, Serrano AL, Santalucía T, Gumà A, Cantó C, Brand NJ, et al. Differential Regulation of the Muscle-specific GLUT4 Enhancer in Regenerating and Adult Skeletal Muscle. J Biol Chem [Internet]. 2003 Oct;278(42):40557–64. Available from: https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0021925820828415

127. Hunter Young J. **Evolution of blood pressure regulation in humans.** Curr Hypertens Rep [Internet]. 2007 Mar 26;9(1):13–8. Available from: https://link.springer.com/10.1007/s11906-007-0004-8

128. Weder AB. **Evolution and Hypertension.** Hypertension [Internet]. 2007 Feb;49(2):260–5. Available from: https://www.ahajournals.org/doi/10.1161/01.HYP.0000255165.84684.9d

129. Horita S, Seki G, Yamada H, Suzuki M, Koike K, Fujita T. **Insulin Resistance, Obesity, Hypertension, and Renal Sodium Transport**. Int J Hypertens [Internet]. 2011;2011:1–8. Available from: http://www.hindawi.com/journals/ijhy/2011/391762/

130. Pavlov TS, Ilatovskaya D V., Levchenko V, Li L, Ecelbarger CM, Staruschenko A. **Regulation of ENaC in mice lacking renal insulin receptors in the collecting duct.** FASEB J [Internet]. 2013 Jul 4;27(7):2723–32. Available from: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1096/fj.12-223792

131. White TD, Asfaw B, DeGusta D, Gilbert H, Richards GD, Suwa G, et al. **Pleistocene Homo sapiens from Middle Awash, Ethiopia**. Nature [Internet]. 2003 Jun;423(6941):742–7. Available from: http://www.nature.com/articles/nature01669

132. Lieberman DE, Bramble DM, Raichlen DA, Shea JJ. **Brains, Brawn, and the Evolution of Human Endurance Running Capabilities**. In 2009. p. 77–92. Available from: http://link.springer. com/10.1007/978-1-4020-9980-9_8

133. Bramble DM, Lieberman DE. Endurance running and the evolution of Homo. Nature [Internet]. 2004 Nov;432(7015):345–52. Available from: http://www.nature.com/articles/nature03052

134. Malina RM, Little BB. **Physical activity: The present in the context of the past.** Am J Hum Biol [Internet]. 2008 Jul;20(4):373–91. Available from: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1002/ajhb.20772

135. Carrier DR, Kapoor AK, Kimura T, Nickels MK, Satwanti, Scott EC, et al. **The Energetic Paradox of Human Running and Hominid Evolution [and Comments and Reply].** Curr Anthropol. 1984;25(4):483–95.

136. Raichlen DA, Gordon AD. **Relationship between Exercise Capacity and Brain Size in Mammals.** Iwaniuk A, editor. PLoS One [Internet]. 2011 Jun 22;6(6):e20601. Available from: https:// dx.plos.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0020601

137. Spoor F, Hublin J-J, Braun M, Zonneveld F. **The bony labyrinth of Neanderthals.** J Hum Evol [Internet]. 2003 Feb;44(2):141–65. Available from: https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0047248402001665

138. Raichlen DA, Foster AD, Gerdeman GL, Seillier A, Giuffrida A. Wired to run: exercise-induced endocannabinoid signaling in humans and cursorial mammals with implications for the 'runner's high.' J Exp Biol [Internet]. 2012 Apr 15;215(8):1331–6. Available from: https://journals.biologists.com/ jeb/article/215/8/1331/11332/Wired-to-run-exercise-induced-endocannabinoid

139. Raichlen DA, Armstrong H, Lieberman DE. Calcaneus length determines running economy: Implications for endurance running performance in modern humans and Neandertals. J Hum Evol [Internet]. 2011 Mar;60(3):299–308. Available from: https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0047248410002526

140. Raichlen DA, Polk JD. Linking brains and brawn: exercise and the evolution of human **neurobiology.** Proc R Soc B Biol Sci [Internet]. 2013 Jan 7;280(1750):20122250. Available from: https://royalsocietypublishing.org/doi/10.1098/rspb.2012.2250

141. Coffey VG, Hawley JA. **The molecular bases of training adaptation.** Sports Med [Internet]. 2007;37(9):737–63. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/17722947

142. Booth FW, Lees SJ. **Fundamental questions about genes, inactivity, and chronic diseases**. Physiol Genomics [Internet]. 2007 Jan;28(2):146–57. Available from: https://www.physiology.org/ doi/10.1152/physiolgenomics.00174.2006

143. Bertelli M, Alushi B, Veicsteinas A. **Physical exercise to prevent multifactorial diseases: a warning written in our genes?** Sport Sci Health [Internet]. 2008 Dec 14;4(1–2):33–5. Available from: http://link.springer.com/10.1007/s11332-008-0064-4

144. Keller C, Steensberg A, Pilegaard H, Osada T, Saltin B, Pedersen BK, et al. **Transcriptional activation of the IL-6 gene in human contracting skeletal muscle: influence of muscle glycogen content.** FASEB J [Internet]. 2001 Dec 29;15(14):1–15. Available from: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/ doi/10.1096/fj.01-0507fje

145. Petersen KF, Befroy D, Dufour S, Dziura J, Ariyan C, Rothman DL, et al. **Mitochondrial Dysfunction in the Elderly: Possible Role in Insulin Resistance**. Science (80-) [Internet]. 2003 May 16;300(5622):1140–2. Available from: https://www.science.org/doi/10.1126/science.1082889

146. Febbraio MA, Steensberg A, Walsh R, Koukoulas I, Hall G van, Saltin B, et al. **Reduced glycogen availability is associated with an elevation in HSP72 in contracting human skeletal muscle.** J Physiol [Internet]. 2002 Feb;538(3):911–7. Available from: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1113/ jphysiol.2001.013145

147. Cahill GF, Owen OE. **Starvation and survival.** Trans Am Clin Climatol Assoc [Internet]. 1968;79:13–20. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/5667163

148. Chakravarthy M V., Booth FW. **Eating, exercise, and "thrifty" genotypes: connecting the dots toward an evolutionary understanding of modern chronic diseases.** J Appl Physiol [Internet]. 2004 Jan;96(1):3–10. Available from: https://www.physiology.org/doi/10.1152/japplphysiol.00757.2003

149. de Moraes C, Davel APC, Rossoni LV, Antunes E, Zanesco A. **Exercise training improves** relaxation response and SOD-1 expression in aortic and mesenteric rings from high caloric dietfed rats. BMC Physiol [Internet]. 2008 Dec 29;8(1):12. Available from: https://bmcphysiol.biomedcentral. com/articles/10.1186/1472-6793-8-12

150. Hambrecht R, Adams V, Erbs S, Linke A, Kränkel N, Shu Y, et al. **Regular Physical Activity** Improves Endothelial Function in Patients With Coronary Artery Disease by Increasing Phosphorylation of Endothelial Nitric Oxide Synthase. Circulation [Internet]. 2003 Jul;107(25):3152– 8. Available from: https://www.ahajournals.org/doi/10.1161/01.CIR.0000074229.93804.5C

151. Gleeson M, Bishop NC, Stensel DJ, Lindley MR, Mastana SS, Nimmo MA. **The anti-inflammatory effects of exercise: mechanisms and implications for the prevention and treatment of disease.** Nat Rev Immunol [Internet]. 2011;11(9):607–15. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/21818123

152. Handschin C, Spiegelman BM. **The role of exercise and PGC1alpha in inflammation and chronic disease.** Nature [Internet]. 2008 Jul 24;454(7203):463–9. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm. nih.gov/pubmed/18650917

153. Szostak J, Laurant P. **The forgotten face of regular physical exercise: a 'natural' antiatherogenic activity.** Clin Sci [Internet]. 2011 Aug 1;121(3):91–106. Available from: https:// portlandpress.com/clinsci/article/121/3/91/68865/The-forgotten-face-of-regular-physical-exercise-a

154. di Costanzo J. **Paleolithic nutrition: a model for the future?** Curr Opin Clin Nutr Metab Care [Internet]. 2000 Mar;3(2):87–92. Available from: http://journals.lww.com/00075197-200003000-00001

155. Stringers C, Andrews P. **The complete world of human evolution.** Hudson T&, editor. London; 2005. 240 p.

156. Simopoulos AP. **Evolutionary Aspects of Nutrition and Health [Internet].** Simopoulos AP, editor. S. Karger AG; 1999. (World Review of Nutrition and Dietetics; vol. 84). Available from: http://www.karger. com/Book/Home/223543

157. Bobe R, Behrensmeyer AK, Chapman RE. **Faunal change, environmental variability and late Pliocene hominin evolution.** J Hum Evol [Internet]. 2002 Apr;42(4):475–97. Available from: https:// linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0047248401905354

158. deMenocal PB. African climate change and faunal evolution during the Pliocene– Pleistocene. Earth Planet Sci Lett [Internet]. 2004 Mar;220(1–2):3–24. Available from: https:// linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0012821X04000032

159. Wynn JG. Influence of Plio-Pleistocene aridification on human evolution: Evidence from paleosols of the Turkana Basin, Kenya. Am J Phys Anthropol [Internet]. 2004 Feb;123(2):106–18. Available from: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1002/ajpa.10317

160. Plummer T. Flaked stones and old bones: Biological and cultural evolution at the dawn of technology. Am J Phys Anthropol [Internet]. 2004;125(S39):118–64. Available from: https://onlinelibrary. wiley.com/doi/10.1002/ajpa.20157

161. Broadhurst CL, Wang Y, Crawford MA, Cunnane SC, Parkington JE, Schmidt WF. **Brain-specific lipids from marine, lacustrine, or terrestrial food resources: potential impact on early African Homo sapiens.** Comp Biochem Physiol Part B Biochem Mol Biol [Internet]. 2002 Apr;131(4):653–73. Available from: https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S1096495902000027

162. Crawford MA, Bloom M, Cunnane S, Holmsen H, Ghebremeskel K, Parkington J, et al. **Docosahexaenoic Acid and Cerebral Evolution.** In: Fatty Acids and Lipids - New Findings [Internet]. Basel: KARGER; 2000. p. 6–17. Available from: https://www.karger.com/Article/FullText/59743

163. Gibbons A. In Search of the First Hominids. Science (80-) [Internet]. 2002 Feb 15;295(5558):1214–9. Available from: https://www.science.org/doi/10.1126/science.295.5558.1214

164. O'Keefe JH, Vogel R, Lavie CJ, Cordain L. Exercise Like a Hunter-Gatherer: A Prescription for Organic Physical Fitness. Prog Cardiovasc Dis [Internet]. 2011 May;53(6):471–9. Available from: https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0033062011000648

165. Cannon G. **Out of the Box.** Public Health Nutr [Internet]. 2007 Aug 1;10(8):758–61. Available from: https://www.cambridge.org/core/product/identifier/S1368980007770568/type/journal_article

166. Stringer C. Coasting out of Africa. Nature. 2000;405:3.

167. Wang S, Lewis CM, Jakobsson M, Ramachandran S, Ray N, Bedoya G, et al. **Genetic Variation and Population Structure in Native Americans.** Tyler-Smith C, editor. PLoS Genet [Internet]. 2007 Nov 23;3(11):e185. Available from: https://dx.plos.org/10.1371/journal.pgen.0030185

168. Diamond J, Bellwood P. Farmers and Their Languages: The First Expansions. Science (80-) [Internet]. 2003 Apr 25;300(5619):597–603. Available from: https://www.science.org/doi/10.1126/ science.1078208

169. Mccance RA. **Faminee of history and of today.** Proc Nutr Soc [Internet]. 1975 Dec 28;34(3):161– 6. Available from: https://www.cambridge.org/core/product/identifier/S0029665175000353/type/journal_ article

170. Page AE, Viguier S, Dyble M, Smith D, Chaudhary N, Salali GD, et al. **Reproductive trade-offs in extant hunter-gatherers suggest adaptive mechanism for the Neolithic expansion.** Proc Natl Acad Sci [Internet]. 2016 Apr 26;113(17):4694–9. Available from: https://pnas.org/doi/full/10.1073/pnas.1524031113

171. Lieberman DE. The evolution of the human head. Press HU, editor. 2011. 756 p.

172. Narayan KMV, Zhang P, Kanaya AM, Williams DE, Engelgau MM, Imperatore G, et al. **Diabetes: The Pandemic and Potential Solutions [Internet]**. Disease Control Priorities in Developing Countries. 2006. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/21250351

173. Hossain P, Kawar B, El Nahas M. **Obesity and Diabetes in the Developing World – A Growing Challenge.** N Engl J Med [Internet]. 2007 Jan 18;356(3):213–5. Available from: http://www.nejm.org/doi/abs/10.1056/NEJMp068177

174. Handschin C. **Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor-γ coactivator-1α in muscle links metabolism to inflammation.** Clin Exp Pharmacol Physiol [Internet]. 2009 Dec;36(12):1139–43. Available from: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1111/j.1440-1681.2009.05275.x

175. Mahley RW, Rall SC. **Apolipoprotein E: Far More Than a Lipid Transport Protein.** Annu Rev Genomics Hum Genet [Internet]. 2000 Sep;1(1):507–37. Available from: https://www.annualreviews.org/ doi/10.1146/annurev.genom.1.1.507

176. Deschamps V, Barberger-Gateau P, Peuchant E, Orgogozo JM. **Nutritional Factors in Cerebral Aging and Dementia: Epidemiological Arguments for a Role of Oxidative Stress.** Neuroepidemiology [Internet]. 2001;20(1):7–15. Available from: https://www.karger.com/Article/ FullText/54752

177. Luchsinger JA, Tang M-X, Shea S, Mayeux R. **Caloric Intake and the Risk of Alzheimer Disease.** Arch Neurol [Internet]. 2002 Aug 1;59(8):1258. Available from: http://archneur.jamanetwork. com/article.aspx?doi=10.1001/archneur.59.8.1258 178. Morris MC, Evans DA, Bienias JL, Tangney CC, Bennett DA, Aggarwal N, et al. **Dietary Fats and the Risk of Incident Alzheimer Disease**. Arch Neurol [Internet]. 2003 Feb 1;60(2):194. Available from: http://archneur.jamanetwork.com/article.aspx?doi=10.1001/archneur.60.2.194

179. van Meer G, Voelker DR, Feigenson GW. **Membrane lipids: where they are and how they behave.** Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol [Internet]. 2008 Feb;9(2):112–24. Available from: http://www.nature.com/articles/nrm2330

180. Garcia-Ruiz C, Mari M, Colell A, Morales A, Caballero F, Montero J, et al. **Mitochondrial cholesterol in health and disease.** Histol Histopathol [Internet]. 2009;24(1):117–32. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/19012251

181. Campbell AM, Chan SHP. **Mitochondrial membrane cholesterol, the voltage dependent anion channel (VDAC), and the Warburg effect.** J Bioenerg Biomembr [Internet]. 2008 Jun 2;40(3):193–7. Available from: http://link.springer.com/10.1007/s10863-008-9138-x

182. Attie AD, Kastelein JP, Hayden MR. **Pivotal role of ABCA1 in reverse cholesterol transport influencing HDL levels and susceptibility to atherosclerosis.** J Lipid Res [Internet]. 2001 Nov;42(11):1717–26. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/11714841

183. Oram JF, Vaughan AM. **ATP-Binding Cassette Cholesterol Transporters and Cardiovascular Disease.** Circ Res [Internet]. 2006 Nov 10;99(10):1031–43. Available from: https://www.ahajournals.org/ doi/10.1161/01.RES.0000250171.54048.5c

184. Acuña-Alonzo V, Flores-Dorantes T, Kruit JK, Villarreal-Molina T, Arellano-Campos O, Hünemeier T, et al. A functional ABCA1 gene variant is associated with low HDL-cholesterol levels and shows evidence of positive selection in Native Americans. Hum Mol Genet [Internet]. 2010 Jul 15;19(14):2877–85. Available from: https://academic.oup.com/hmg/article-lookup/doi/10.1093/hmg/ ddq173

185. Zorzetto R. American inheritance: Indigenous groups from all over the continent share a genetic alteration that favors obesity and diabetes. FAPESP Res J. 2011;(182).

186. Lorenzo C, Serrano-Rios M, Martinez-Larrad MT, Gabriel R, Williams K, Gonzalez-Villalpando C, et al. Was the Historic Contribution of Spain to the Mexican Gene Pool Partially Responsible for the Higher Prevalence of Type 2 Diabetes in Mexican-Origin Populations? Diabetes Care [Internet]. 2001 Dec 1;24(12):2059–64. Available from: https://diabetesjournals.org/care/article/24/12/2059/20698/Was-the-Historic-Contribution-of-Spain-to-the

187. Cossrow N, Falkner B. **Race/Ethnic Issues in Obesity and Obesity-Related Comorbidities.** J Clin Endocrinol Metab [Internet]. 2004 Jun 1;89(6):2590–4. Available from: https://academic.oup.com/jcem/article/89/6/2590/2870291

188. Davignon J, Gregg RE, Sing CF. **Apolipoprotein E polymorphism and atherosclerosis.** Arterioscler An Off J Am Hear Assoc Inc [Internet]. 1988 Jan;8(1):1–21. Available from: https://www. ahajournals.org/doi/10.1161/01.ATV.8.1.1

189. Fullerton SM, Clark AG, Weiss KM, Nickerson DA, Taylor SL, Stengård JH, et al. **Apolipoprotein E Variation at the Sequence Haplotype Level: Implications for the Origin and Maintenance of a Major Human Polymorphism.** Am J Hum Genet [Internet]. 2000 Oct;67(4):881–900. Available from: https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0002929707632820

190. McIntosh AM, Bennett C, Dickson D, Anestis SF, Watts DP, Webster TH, et al. **The Apolipoprotein E (APOE) Gene Appears Functionally Monomorphic in Chimpanzees (Pan troglodytes).** Manfred K, editor. PLoS One [Internet]. 2012 Oct 24;7(10):e47760. Available from: https://dx.plos.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0047760

191. Finch CE. Evolution of the human lifespan, past, present, and future: phases in the evolution of human life expectancy in relation to the inflammatory load. Proc Am Philos Soc [Internet]. 2012 Mar;156(1):9–44. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/23035388

192. Eisenberg DTA, Kuzawa CW, Hayes MG. **Worldwide allele frequencies of the human apolipoprotein E gene: Climate, local adaptations, and evolutionary history.** Am J Phys Anthropol [Internet]. 2010 Sep;143(1):100–11. Available from: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1002/ ajpa.21298

193. CORBO RM, SCACCHI R. Apolipoprotein E (APOE) allele distribution in the world. Is APOE * 4 a 'thrifty' allele? Ann Hum Genet [Internet]. 1999 Jul;63(4):301–10. Available from: http://doi.wiley. com/10.1046/j.1469-1809.1999.6340301.x

194. Prentice AM, Rayco-Solon P, Moore SE. **Insights from the developing world: thrifty genotypes and thrifty phenotypes.** Proc Nutr Soc [Internet]. 2005 May 7;64(2):153–61. Available from: https://www.cambridge.org/core/product/identifier/S0029665105000194/type/journal_article

195. Singh PP, Singh M, Mastana SS. **APOE distribution in world populations with new data from India and the UK.** Ann Hum Biol [Internet]. 2006 Jan 9;33(3):279–308. Available from: http://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/03014460600594513

196. Hemmer H. 19 Estimation of Basic Life History Data of Fossil Hominoids. In: Handbook of Paleoanthropology [Internet]. Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer Berlin Heidelberg; 2007. p. 587–619. Available from: http://link.springer.com/10.1007/978-3-540-33761-4_19

197. Jablonski NG, Chaplin G. **The evolution of human skin coloration**. J Hum Evol [Internet]. 2000 Jul;39(1):57–106. Available from: https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0047248400904032

198. Raichlen DA, Alexander GE. **Exercise, APOE genotype, and the evolution of the human lifespan.** Trends Neurosci [Internet]. 2014 May;37(5):247–55. Available from: https://linkinghub.elsevier. com/retrieve/pii/S016622361400040X

199. Armas LAG, Dowell S, Akhter M, Duthuluru S, Huerter C, Hollis BW, et al. **Ultraviolet-B radiation increases serum 25-hydroxyvitamin D levels: The effect of UVB dose and skin color.** J Am Acad Dermatol [Internet]. 2007 Oct;57(4):588–93. Available from: https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/ S0190962207005002

200. Huebbe P, Nebel A, Siegert S, Moehring J, Boesch-Saadatmandi C, Most E, et al. **APOE** ε 4 is associated with higher vitamin D levels in targeted replacement mice and humans. FASEB J [Internet]. 2011 Sep 9;25(9):3262–70. Available from: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1096/ fj.11-180935

201. Finch CE. **Evolution of the human lifespan and diseases of aging: Roles of infection, inflammation, and nutrition.** Proc Natl Acad Sci [Internet]. 2010 Jan 26;107(suppl_1):1718–24. Available from: https://pnas.org/doi/full/10.1073/pnas.0909606106

202. Yuen AWC, Jablonski NG. **Vitamin D: In the evolution of human skin colour.** Med Hypotheses [Internet]. 2010 Jan;74(1):39–44. Available from: https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0306987709005544

203. Corbo RM. **Apolipoprotein E polymorphism and fertility: a study in pre-industrial populations.** Mol Hum Reprod [Internet]. 2004 Jun 4;10(8):617–20. Available from: https://academic. oup.com/molehr/article-lookup/doi/10.1093/molehr/gah082

204. Corbo R. Differential reproductive efficiency associated with common apolipoprotein E alleles in postreproductive-aged subjects. Fertil Steril [Internet]. 2004 Jan;81(1):104–7. Available from: https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0015028203024579

205. Frisch RE. **Malnutrition and Fertility.** Science (80-) [Internet]. 1982 Mar 5;215(4537):1272–4. Available from: https://www.science.org/doi/10.1126/science.7199206

206. Hawkes K, O'Connell JF, Jones NGB, Alvarez H, Charnov EL. **Grandmothering, menopause, and the evolution of human life histories.** Proc Natl Acad Sci [Internet]. 1998 Feb 3;95(3):1336–9. Available from: https://pnas.org/doi/full/10.1073/pnas.95.3.1336

207. Marlowe F. **The patriarch hypothesis.** Hum Nat [Internet]. 2000 Mar;11(1):27–42. Available from: http://link.springer.com/10.1007/s12110-000-1001-7

208. Hawkes K, O'Connell JF. **How old is human longevity?** J Hum Evol [Internet]. 2005 Nov;49(5):650–3. Available from: https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0047248405001508

209. Smith BH. **Dental development and the evolution of life history in Hominidae.** Am J Phys Anthropol [Internet]. 1991 Oct;86(2):157–74. Available from: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1002/ ajpa.1330860206

210. Gurven M, Walker R. Energetic demand of multiple dependents and the evolution of slow human growth. Proc R Soc B Biol Sci [Internet]. 2006 Apr 7;273(1588):835–41. Available from: https:// royalsocietypublishing.org/doi/10.1098/rspb.2005.3380

211. Gurven M, Kaplan H, Gutierrez M. **How long does it take to become a proficient hunter? Implications for the evolution of extended development and long life span.** J Hum Evol [Internet]. 2006 Nov;51(5):454–70. Available from: https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0047248406000960

212. Kim PS, Coxworth JE, Hawkes K. **Increased longevity evolves from grandmothering.** Proc R Soc B Biol Sci [Internet]. 2012 Dec 22;279(1749):4880–4. Available from: https://royalsocietypublishing. org/doi/10.1098/rspb.2012.1751

213. Alexander GE, Ryan L, Bowers D, Foster TC, Bizon JL, Geldmacher DS, et al. **Characterizing cognitive aging in humans with links to animal models**. Front Aging Neurosci [Internet]. 2012;4. Available from: http://journal.frontiersin.org/article/10.3389/fnagi.2012.00021/abstract

214. Daffner KR. **Promoting Successful Cognitive Aging: A Comprehensive Review.** J Alzheimer's Dis [Internet]. 2010 Mar 11;19(4):1101–22. Available from: https://www.medra.org/servlet/ aliasResolver?alias=iospress&doi=10.3233/JAD-2010-1306

215. Finch CE, Sapolsky RM. **The evolution of Alzheimer disease, the reproductive schedule, and apoE isoforms.** Neurobiol Aging [Internet]. 1999 Jul;20(4):407–28. Available from: https://linkinghub. elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0197458099000536

216. Bernstein MS, Costanza MC, James RW, Morris MA, Cambien F, Raoux S, et al. **Physical Activity May Modulate Effects of ApoE Genotype on Lipid Profile.** Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol [Internet]. 2002 Jan;22(1):133–40. Available from: https://www.ahajournals.org/doi/10.1161/hq0102.101819

217. Pisciotta L, Cantafora A, Piana A, Masturzo P, Cerone R, Minniti G, et al. **Physical activity** modulates effects of some genetic polymorphisms affecting cardiovascular risk in men aged over 40 years. Nutr Metab Cardiovasc Dis [Internet]. 2003 Aug;13(4):202–10. Available from: https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0939475303800121

218. Smith J, Nielson K, Woodard J, Seidenberg M, Rao S. **Physical Activity and Brain Function in Older Adults at Increased Risk for Alzheimer's Disease**. Brain Sci [Internet]. 2013 Jan 14;3(4):54–83. Available from: http://www.mdpi.com/2076-3425/3/1/54

219. Rovio S, Kåreholt I, Helkala E-L, Viitanen M, Winblad B, Tuomilehto J, et al. Leisure-time physical activity at midlife and the risk of dementia and Alzheimer's disease. Lancet Neurol [Internet]. 2005 Nov;4(11):705–11. Available from: https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S1474442205701988

220. Kivipelto M, Rovio S, Ngandu T, Kåreholt I, Eskelinen M, Winblad B, et al. **Apolipoprotein E ɛ4 magnifies lifestyle risks for dementia: a population-based study.** J Cell Mol Med [Internet]. 2008 Dec 2;12(6b):2762–71. Available from: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1111/j.1582-4934.2008.00296.x

221. Baker SL, Kotelchuck M. Birthweight-Specific **Mortality: Important Inequalities Remain.** J Rural Heal [Internet]. 1989 Apr;5(2):155–70. Available from: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/ doi/10.1111/j.1748-0361.1989.tb01043.x

222. Hales CN, Barker DJ, Clark PM, Cox LJ, Fall C, Osmond C, et al. **Fetal and infant growth and impaired glucose tolerance at age 64.** BMJ [Internet]. 1991 Oct 26;303(6809):1019–22. Available from: https://www.bmj.com/lookup/doi/10.1136/bmj.303.6809.1019

223. Lurbe E, Cifkova R, Cruickshank JK, Dillon MJ, Ferreira I, Invitti C, et al. **Management of high blood pressure in children and adolescents: recommendations of the European Society of Hypertension.** J Hypertens [Internet]. 2009 Sep;27(9):1719–42. Available from: https://journals.lww. com/00004872-200909000-00001

224. Newsome CA, Shiell AW, Fall CHD, Phillips DIW, Shier R, Law CM. **Is birth weight related to later glucose and insulin metabolism?-a systematic review**. Diabet Med [Internet]. 2003 May;20(5):339–48. Available from: http://doi.wiley.com/10.1046/j.1464-5491.2003.00871.x

225. Fagerberg B, Bondjers L, Nilsson P. Low birth weight in combination with catch-up growth predicts the occurrence of the metabolic syndrome in men at late middle age: the Atherosclerosis and Insulin Resistance study. J Intern Med [Internet]. 2004 Sep;256(3):254–9. Available from: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1111/j.1365-2796.2004.01361.x

226. Forsén T. **The Fetal and Childhood Growth of Persons Who Develop Type 2 Diabetes.** Ann Intern Med [Internet]. 2000 Aug 1;133(3):176. Available from: http://annals.org/article. aspx?doi=10.7326/0003-4819-133-3-200008010-00008 227. Bhargava SK, Sachdev HS, Fall CHD, Osmond C, Lakshmy R, Barker DJP, et al. **Relation** of Serial Changes in Childhood Body-Mass Index to Impaired Glucose Tolerance in Young Adulthood. N Engl J Med [Internet]. 2004 Feb 26;350(9):865–75. Available from: http://www.nejm.org/ doi/abs/10.1056/NEJMoa035698

228. Hales CN, Barker DJP. **Type 2 (non-insulin-dependent) diabetes mellitus: the thrifty phenotype hypothesis.** Diabetologia [Internet]. 1992 Jul;35(7):595–601. Available from: http://link. springer.com/10.1007/BF00400248

229. Hales CN, Barker DJP. **The thrifty phenotype hypothesis.** Br Med Bull [Internet]. 2001 Nov 1;60(1):5–20. Available from: https://academic.oup.com/bmb/article/60/1/5/322752

230. Burini R, Michelin E, Burini F, Moreto F, Mclellan K. **Behavioral risk factors and effects of lifestyle-modification on the metabolic syndrome in adults. A Brazilian community-based study.** In: Handbook on Metabolic Syndrome: Classification, Risk Factors and Health Impact. Nova Science Publishers; 2012. p. 1–20.

231. Farooqi IS, O'Rahilly S. **Genetics of Obesity in Humans.** Endocr Rev [Internet]. 2006 Dec 1;27(7):710–8. Available from: https://academic.oup.com/edrv/article/27/7/710/2355201

232. Unger RH. **Minireview: Weapons of Lean Body Mass Destruction: The Role of Ectopic Lipids in the Metabolic Syndrome**. Endocrinology [Internet]. 2003 Dec;144(12):5159–65. Available from: https://academic.oup.com/endo/article-lookup/doi/10.1210/en.2003-0870

233. Finkelstein EA, Strombotne KL. **The economics of obesity.** Am J Clin Nutr [Internet]. 2010 May;91(5):1520S-1524S. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/20237140

234. Cordain L, Eaton S, Miller JB, Mann N, Hill K. **The paradoxical nature of hunter-gatherer diets: meat-based, yet non-atherogenic.** Eur J Clin Nutr [Internet]. 2002 Mar 1;56(S1):S42–52. Available from: https://www.nature.com/articles/1601353

235. Brand-Miller JC, Griffin HJ, Colagiuri S. **The Carnivore Connection Hypothesis: Revisited.** J Obes [Internet]. 2012;2012:1–9. Available from: http://www.hindawi.com/journals/jobe/2012/258624/

236. Manheimer EW, van Zuuren EJ, Fedorowicz Z, Pijl H. **Paleolithic nutrition for metabolic syndrome: systematic review and meta-analysis.** Am J Clin Nutr [Internet]. 2015 Oct 1;102(4):922– 32. Available from: https://academic.oup.com/ajcn/article/102/4/922/4564680

237. Muniyappa R, Montagnani M, Koh KK, Quon MJ. **Cardiovascular Actions of Insulin**. Endocr Rev [Internet]. 2007 Aug 1;28(5):463–91. Available from: https://academic.oup.com/edrv/ article/28/5/463/2354975

238. Murdolo G, Piroddi M, Luchetti F, Tortoioli C, Canonico B, Zerbinati C, et al. **Oxidative stress** and lipid peroxidation by-products at the crossroad between adipose organ dysregulation and obesity-linked insulin resistance. Biochimie [Internet]. 2013 Mar;95(3):585–94. Available from: https:// linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0300908412005056

239. ZACCONE P, FEHERVARI Z, PHILLIPS JM, DUNNE DW, COOKE A. **Parasitic worms and inflammatory diseases**. Parasite Immunol [Internet]. 2006 Oct;28(10):515–23. Available from: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1111/j.1365-3024.2006.00879.x

240. Trasande L, Blustein J, Liu M, Corwin E, Cox LM, Blaser MJ. **Infant antibiotic exposures and early-life body mass**. Int J Obes [Internet]. 2013 Jan 21;37(1):16–23. Available from: http://www.nature. com/articles/ijo2012132

241. Murk W, Risnes KR, Bracken MB. **Prenatal or Early-Life Exposure to Antibiotics and Risk of Childhood Asthma: A Systematic Review**. Pediatrics [Internet]. 2011 Jun 1;127(6):1125–38. Available from: https://publications.aap.org/pediatrics/article/127/6/1125/30065/Prenatal-or-Early-Life-Exposure-to-Antibiotics-and

242. Gandon S, Mackinnon MJ, Nee S, Read AF. **Imperfect vaccines and the evolution of pathogen virulence**. Nature [Internet]. 2001 Dec 13;414(6865):751–6. Available from: https://www.nature.com/articles/414751a

243. Mackinnon MJ, Read AF. **Virulence in malaria: an evolutionary viewpoint**. Philos Trans R Soc London Ser B Biol Sci [Internet]. 2004 Jun 29;359(1446):965–86. Available from: https:// royalsocietypublishing.org/doi/10.1098/rstb.2003.1414

244. Pinney SE, Simmons RA. **Epigenetic mechanisms in the development of type 2 diabetes**. Trends Endocrinol Metab [Internet]. 2010 Apr;21(4):223–9. Available from: https://linkinghub.elsevier. com/retrieve/pii/S1043276009001611

245. Eaton SB. **Humans, lipids and evolution**. Lipids [Internet]. 1992 Oct;27(10):814–20. Available from: http://doi.wiley.com/10.1007/BF02535856

246. Crespi B, Stead P, Elliot M. **Comparative genomics of autism and schizophrenia**. Proc Natl Acad Sci [Internet]. 2010 Jan 26;107(suppl_1):1736–41. Available from: https://pnas.org/doi/full/10.1073/pnas.0906080106

247. Riccardo Baschetti MD. Evolutionary legacy: form of ingestion, not quantity, is the key factor in producing the effects of sugar on human health. Med Hypotheses [Internet]. 2004 Jan;63(6):933–8. Available from: https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0306987704004463

248. Baschetti R. Diabetes epidemic in newly westernized populations: is it due to thrifty genes or to genetically unknown foods? J R Soc Med [Internet]. 1998 Dec 30;91(12):622–5. Available from: http://journals.sagepub.com/doi/10.1177/014107689809101203

249. Konner M. **A dose of Dr Darwin**. Nature [Internet]. 1995 Jun;375(6533):641–2. Available from: http://www.nature.com/articles/375641a0

250. SCHUIT AJ, M. FESKENS EJ, LAUNER LJ, KROMHOUT D. **Physical activity and cognitive decline, the role of the apolipoprotein e4 allele**. Med Sci Sports Exerc [Internet]. 2001 May;772–7. Available from: http://journals.lww.com/00005768-200105000-00015

251. John L. Woodard, Michael A. Sugarman, Kristy A. Nielson, J. Carson Smith, Michael Seidenberg, Sally Durgerian, et al. Lifestyle and Genetic Contributions to Cognitive Decline and Hippocampal Structure and Function in Healthy Aging. Curr Alzheimer Res [Internet]. 2012 Apr 26;9(4):436–46. Available from: http://www.eurekaselect.com/openurl/content.php?genre=article&issn=1567-2050&volume=9&issue=4&spage=436

252. Luck T, Riedel-Heller SG, Luppa M, Wiese B, Köhler M, Jessen F, et al. **Apolipoprotein E** epsilon 4 genotype and a physically active lifestyle in late life: analysis of gene–environment interaction for the risk of dementia and Alzheimer's disease dementia. Psychol Med [Internet]. 2014 Apr 24;44(6):1319–29. Available from: https://www.cambridge.org/core/product/identifier/ S0033291713001918/type/journal_article

253. ETNIER JL, CASELLI RJ, REIMAN EM, ALEXANDER GE, SIBLEY BA, TESSIER D, et al. **Cognitive Performance in Older Women Relative to ApoE-ε4 Genotype and Aerobic Fitness**. Med Sci Sport Exerc [Internet]. 2007 Jan;39(1):199–207. Available from: https://journals.lww.com/00005768-200701000-00029

254. Vukovic J, Colditz MJ, Blackmore DG, Ruitenberg MJ, Bartlett PF. **Microglia Modulate Hippocampal Neural Precursor Activity in Response to Exercise and Aging**. J Neurosci [Internet]. 2012 May 9;32(19):6435–43. Available from: https://www.jneurosci.org/lookup/doi/10.1523/ JNEUROSCI.5925-11.2012

255. Brown BM, Peiffer JJ, Taddei K, Lui JK, Laws SM, Gupta VB, et al. **Physical activity and amyloid-β plasma and brain levels: results from the Australian Imaging, Biomarkers and Lifestyle Study of Ageing**. Mol Psychiatry [Internet]. 2013 Aug 14;18(8):875–81. Available from: https:// www.nature.com/articles/mp2012107

256. Head D, Bugg JM, Goate AM, Fagan AM, Mintun MA, Benzinger T, et al. **Exercise Engagement** as a Moderator of the Effects of APOE Genotype on Amyloid Deposition. Arch Neurol [Internet]. 2012 May;69(5):636–43. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/22232206

257. MARKS BL, MADDEN DJ, BUCUR B, PROVENZALE JM, WHITE LE, CABEZA R, et al. **Role of Aerobic Fitness and Aging on Cerebral White Matter Integrity**. Ann N Y Acad Sci [Internet]. 2007 Feb 1;1097(1):171–4. Available from: http://doi.wiley.com/10.1196/annals.1379.022

258. Voss MW, Heo S, Prakash RS, Erickson KI, Alves H, Chaddock L, et al. **The influence of aerobic fitness on cerebral white matter integrity and cognitive function in older adults: Results of a one-year exercise intervention**. Hum Brain Mapp [Internet]. 2013 Nov;34(11):2972–85. Available from: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1002/hbm.22119

259. Bugg JM, Head D. Exercise moderates age-related atrophy of the medial temporal lobe. Neurobiol Aging [Internet]. 2011 Mar;32(3):506–14. Available from: https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/ retrieve/pii/S0197458009001055

260. Erickson KI, Weinstein AM, Lopez OL. **Physical Activity, Brain Plasticity, and Alzheimer's Disease**. Arch Med Res [Internet]. 2012 Nov;43(8):615–21. Available from: https://linkinghub.elsevier. com/retrieve/pii/S0188440912002779

261. Flöel A, Ruscheweyh R, Krüger K, Willemer C, Winter B, Völker K, et al. **Physical activity and memory functions: Are neurotrophins and cerebral gray matter volume the missing link?** Neuroimage [Internet]. 2010 Feb;49(3):2756–63. Available from: https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/ pii/S1053811909011148

262. Gordon BA, Rykhlevskaia EI, Brumback CR, Lee Y, Elavsky S, Konopack JF, et al. **Neuroanatomical correlates of aging, cardiopulmonary fitness level, and education**. Psychophysiology [Internet]. 2008 Jul;???-??? Available from: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1111/ j.1469-8986.2008.00676.x 263. Burns JM, Cronk BB, Anderson HS, Donnelly JE, Thomas GP, Harsha A, et al. **Cardiorespiratory fitness and brain atrophy in early Alzheimer disease**. Neurology [Internet]. 2008 Jul 15;71(3):210–6. Available from: https://www.neurology.org/lookup/doi/10.1212/01.wnl.0000317094.86209.cb

264. Erickson KI, Kramer AF. Aerobic exercise effects on cognitive and neural plasticity in older adults. Br J Sports Med [Internet]. 2008 Nov 19;43(1):22–4. Available from: https://bjsm.bmj.com/ lookup/doi/10.1136/bjsm.2008.052498

265. Erickson KI, Colcombe SJ, Elavsky S, McAuley E, Korol DL, Scalf PE, et al. **Interactive effects of fitness and hormone treatment on brain health in postmenopausal women**. Neurobiol Aging [Internet]. 2007 Feb;28(2):179–85. Available from: https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0197458005004215

266. Erickson KI, Raji CA, Lopez OL, Becker JT, Rosano C, Newman AB, et al. **Physical activity** predicts gray matter volume in late adulthood: The Cardiovascular Health Study. Neurology [Internet]. 2010 Oct 19;75(16):1415–22. Available from: https://www.neurology.org/lookup/doi/10.1212/ WNL.0b013e3181f88359

267. Erickson KI, Voss MW, Prakash RS, Basak C, Szabo A, Chaddock L, et al. **Exercise training increases size of hippocampus and improves memory**. Proc Natl Acad Sci [Internet]. 2011 Feb 15;108(7):3017–22. Available from: https://pnas.org/doi/full/10.1073/pnas.1015950108

268. Honea RA, Thomas GP, Harsha A, Anderson HS, Donnelly JE, Brooks WM, et al. **Cardiorespiratory Fitness and Preserved Medial Temporal Lobe Volume in Alzheimer Disease**. Alzheimer Dis Assoc Disord [Internet]. 2009 Jul;23(3):188–97. Available from: https://journals.lww. com/00002093-200907000-00003

SOBRE O AUTOR

ROBERTO CARLOS BURINI - UNESP Medical School, Botucatu (SP), Brazil. São Paulo -SP, Brazil. http://orcid.org/0000-0001-6060-498X

Understanding contemporary diseases under

EVOLUTIONARY MEDICINE view

- www.atenaeditora.com.br
- 🔀 contato@atenaeditora.com.br
- (2) @atenaeditora
- f www.facebook.com/atenaeditora.com.br



Understanding contemporary diseases under

EVOLUTIONARY MEDICINE view

- www.atenaeditora.com.br
- 🔀 contato@atenaeditora.com.br
- (2) @atenaeditora
- f www.facebook.com/atenaeditora.com.br

